

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Strategies for Integrating Technological Innovations in Small Businesses

Petra Samuel *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Business Commons</u>, <u>Databases and Information Systems Commons</u>, and the <u>Other</u> <u>Education Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Petra Samuel

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Gregory Uche, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jamiel Vadell, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Roger Mayer, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Strategies for Integrating Technological Innovations in Small Businesses

by

Petra Samuel

MIT, American InterContinental University, 2008

BS, Andrews University, 1999

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2017

Abstract

The effective integration of technological innovation is vital to the success of small businesses and can catapult growth and profitability. Some business managers and supervisors, however, may not have a firm understanding of strategies for integrating technological innovations in businesses; this lack of knowledge may result in employee frustration and costly roadblocks to achieving business objectives. This case study was conducted to identify the strategies used by business managers and supervisors to integrate technological innovations in small businesses. Christensen's theory of disruptive innovation and Rogers' theory of diffusion of innovation served as the conceptual framework. Ten business managers and supervisors from Castries, St. Lucia, participated in semistructured interviews. Participants who were selected using purposive sampling worked in a small business in St. Lucia for atleast 5 years, were part of senior management, and used strategies for integrating technological innovations in a small business. Two of the themes that emerged from data analysis were integration challenges relating to technological innovation complexity, and technology cost regarding hardware, upgrades and software procurement. Findings from this study may contribute to positive social change by providing business managers and supervisors insight about strategies and innovative solutions they can use to develop better business practices, increase tax revenues, and employment opportunities, improve profitability, and boost the economy.

Strategies for Integrating Technological Innovations in Small Businesses

by

Petra Samuel

MIT, American InterContinental University, 2008

BS, Andrews University, 1999

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2017

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my husband, Mekus Dylan Samuel, for his unwavering love, support, and sacrifice in helping me achieve this goal. I would also like to dedicate this dissertation to my patient daughter, Chloe Melladie Samuel, and son, Kyle D'mitri Dylan Samuel. I dedicate my dissertation to the St. Lucia Seventh Day Adventist (SDA) Academy where the foundation of my education was cemented from 1985 to 1990. To the students of the St. Lucia SDA Academy, I encourage you to continue dreaming big and to reach for the stars.

Acknowledgments

Barring the mentorship and contributions of a few key individuals in my life, it would not have been possible for me to attain the highest level of education. I thank my hardworking chair, Dr. Gregory Uche, for his patience and excellent direction. To my second committee chair member, Dr. Jamiel Vadell, and my URR, Dr. Roger Mayer, thank you for your support and guidance during my doctoral journey.

To my sister, Martha Alexander-Felix, thank you for your unconditional support. To my nieces, Waveney Isidore, Christina Cornibert, Kadia Cornibert, and nephew, Chester Alcee, thank you for your invaluable assistance. I also acknowledge the encouragement of my cousin, Gordon Florent, and Dr. Lawrence Arnold. I am grateful for the support of Barbara Innocent from the Small Enterprise Development Unit in St. Lucia. Ultimately, I give all the thanks to God for allowing me health, strength, and mental fortitude to achieve such a stupendous feat in my life.

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	4
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	
Limitations	9
Delimitations	
Significance of the Study	10
Contribution to Business Practice	
Implications for Social Change	
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Overview of Technology	
Concept of Innovation	
Technological Innovation	
Concept of Disruptive Technology	

Table of Contents

Concept of Disruptive Innovation	19
Concept of Diffusion of Innovation	
Strategies for Successfully Integrating Technological Innovations	
Failure Factors of Integrating Technological Innovations	
Technological Innovation Strategies for Profitability and Competitive	
Advantage	
Transition	
Section 2: The Project	40
Purpose Statement	40
Role of the Researcher	40
Participants	42
Research Method and Design	44
Research Method	45
Research Design	47
Population and Sampling	50
Ethical Research	51
Data Collection Instruments	53
Data Collection Technique	54
Data Organization Technique	58
Data Analysis	59
Reliability and Validity	61
Reliability	61

Validity	62
Transition and Summary	64
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	66
Presentation of the Findings	66
Overarching Theme: Collaboration, Planning, and Communication	66
Subtheme 1: Integration Challenges	69
Subtheme 2: Technology Cost	71
Subtheme 3: Effective use of Technology	72
Subtheme 4: Profitability	74
Subtheme 5: Training	76
Subtheme 6: Flexibility in Work Schedule	79
Subtheme 7: Remaining Up-To-Date with Technology	80
Applications to Professional Practice	81
Implications for Social Change	84
Recommendations for Action	84
Recommendations for Further Research	87
Reflections	88
Conclusion	89
References	89
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	131
Appendix B: Letters of Cooperation From Research Partner	134

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Because of business and economic changes, leaders of small businesses are increasingly seeking new technological strategies to increase profitability (Harris, McAdams, McCausland, & Reid, 2013). According to Blair (2015), technological innovation has the potential to improve a business's competitive advantage. To fully realize these possible benefits, business managers and supervisors need to make sure their business processes align with these technological innovations. Failing to do so may result in a loss of productivity and revenue for businesses, and may further exacerbate social issues such as unemployment and poverty (Kim & Min, 2015; Srivastava & Misra, 2014). To strengthen the economy, secure a competitive advantage, increase profitability, and improve productivity and efficiency, small business leaders should explore sound strategies for integrating technological innovations in business processes (Chew & Gottschalk, 2013; Desai, 2013; Haned, Mothe, & Nguyen-Thi, 2014). In this study, I sought to contribute insight about the strategies business managers and supervisors can use to better integrate technology in the business. My focus was the eastern Caribbean island of St. Lucia. There, small businesses are the largest employers and contribute to more than 60% of the island's gross domestic product (GDP; World Bank, 2015).

Background of the Problem

Small businesses foster economic growth and create employment in every country (Buchwald, Urbach, & Ahlemann, 2014). Given the role of technology in the global economy, business leaders are seeking ways to integrate technological innovations in business processes to improve profitability and efficiency (Murphy, 2014). To minimize

risk, small business managers and supervisors need to plan and use appropriate business strategies before embarking on new technological opportunities. Approximately 68% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years of operation (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2014). Some small business managers and supervisors may reduce the risk of business failure by defining the direction or destination of the business, and use appropriate technology to help them sustain the business and improve cash flow.

Despite the need to improve and use technology, less than 1% of manufacturing businesses in St. Lucia receive international quality certifications in technology for production processes (World Bank, 2015). Authors of the Private Sector Assessment Report (PSAR) on St. Lucia recommended small businesses on the island find technological innovations to improve efficiency and reduce the cost of doing business (Compete Caribbean, 2014). While 54% of the island's manufacturers use e-mail to interact with clients and suppliers, only 15% have websites and use the Internet for marketing (Compete Caribbean, 2014).

Generally, the success rate for technological integration among small businesses is low while the failure rate is high (Nguyen, Newby, & Macaulay, 2013). The high failure rate is an opportunity for business leaders to develop strategies, for making the right decisions regarding the integration of new technology in their businesses. As Blair (2015) noted, leaders who invest in such strategies may help their business become more efficient, have more frequent innovation, and be more profitable. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies business managers and supervisors can use to integrate technological innovations in small businesses.

Problem Statement

Business managers and supervisors who are not prepared for integrating technological innovations in the business risk experiencing revenue loss, decreased productivity, and inflated costs of doing business (Coccia, 2014; Compete Caribbean, 2014). According to the World Bank (2015), St. Lucia ranks low in comparison to other countries, in integration and use of advanced technological innovations among its small businesses. The general business problem is some business managers and supervisors seek to integrate technological innovations without adequate preparation and information, which affects productivity and revenue. The specific business problem is some business managers and supervisors to improve profitability.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. The target population included business managers and supervisors from two small businesses in the Caribbean island of St. Lucia. The study may contribute to positive social change by providing business managers and supervisors on the island with a deeper understanding of strategies they may use for integrating technological innovations in their business. Small business communities may obtain innovative solutions from the results of this study. Implementation of these strategies may result in better business practices, expansion of businesses, increases in tax revenues and employment, and a boost to the economy.

Nature of the Study

This was a qualitative exploratory multiple case study. Qualitative researchers explore and use real-life experiences of individuals in a natural environment to grasp lived phenomena (Cronin, 2014; Gunawardhana, Suzuki, & Enkawa, 2015; Yin, 2014). Researchers use quantitative methods to collect numerical data and perform mathematical analyses to identify causality and correlate two or more variables (Hafford-Letchfield, 2014). A quantitative approach was not suitable for this study because the activities during this research did not demand mathematical analyses. Mixed-methods research refers to a combination of qualitative and quantitative approaches researchers use to generalize findings, test theories statistically, and reveal the behaviors and perceptions of a particular group (Kachouie & Sedighadeli, 2015). Although a mixed-method approach would have addressed the qualitative aspects of my study, it would have also entailed quantitative analysis such as use of statistics and computations, which were not relevant to my research focus. Thus, I concluded, a mixed-method approach was not appropriate for this study.

Researchers who perform qualitative exploratory multiple case studies conduct interviews and observations, and collect and analyze data obtained from research participants (Charmaz, 2014; Yin, 2014). During qualitative research, researchers also use open-ended research questions to interpret multiple dimensions of a phenomenon using various data sources (Hott, Limberg, Ohrt, & Schmit, 2015). A qualitative research design was appropriate for my study because I needed to use open-ended questions to address my central research question. Phenomenologists address current phenomena in real-life contexts (Chan, Fung, & Chien, 2013; Yin, 2013). To a certain extent, this design was in alignment with my study. However, in order to evaluate the strategies leaders use to integrate technological innovations through observations, I needed to conduct observations and interviews. I deemed use of a phenomenological approach as not being flexible and adequate enough to accommodate these research activities. Grounded theory, which involves the formulation of theories for a large populace (Smith, 2015), was not appropriate for this study. This key principle of grounded theory was not in accordance with my research and I opted not to use it. Researchers use an ethnographic method would not have covered all aspects of this study and was, thus, unsuitable. Narrative inquiry was not appropriate for this study because it involves analysis of storytelling, art or autobiographies (Kuronen, 2014; Raeburn, Schmied, Hungerford, & Cleary 2015; Von Contzen & Alders, 2015), which were not part of my study.

Research Question

The overarching research question for this study was, What strategies do business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses?

Interview Questions

To answer my research question, I posed the following questions to participants:

1. What strategies are you using for integrating technological innovations in the business to improve profitability?

- 2. How do you select and implement the strategies for integrating technological innovations in the business to improve profitability?
- 3. How do you determine the most effective strategy for integrating technological innovations in your business?
- 4. How do you measure the effect of using the strategies for integrating technological innovations on the business in terms of profitability?
- 5. How would you describe the challenges you experience using the strategies for integrating technological innovations?
- 6. How do you remain up-to-date with strategies for integrating technological innovations and changes in technology?
- 7. What additional information would you like to add regarding strategies for integrating technological innovations to improve profitability, which was not included in the interview?

Conceptual Framework

The theories of disruptive innovation and diffusion of innovation formed the conceptual framework for this study. In 1997, Christensen pioneered the theory of disruptive innovation (Christensen, 2013). According to Christensen, disruptive innovation is part of business processes, cutting-edge technologies, and low-end performing products and services in already established markets. Business managers and supervisors use technological innovation integration strategies when introducing disruptive innovation into their businesses.

Diffusion of innovation is the second model for this study. In 1962,

communication scientist Rogers (2015) coined the term diffusion of innovation. The process of diffusion of innovation is the permeation of new technology into societies and cultures, from launch to extensive adoption (Kapoor, Dwivedi, & Williams 2014). The acceptance and adoption of innovation by management may be dependent on cost and accessibility while acceptance and adoption by employees may be due to familiarity (Uchida, 2015). Business managers and supervisors may use strategies from disruptive innovation and diffusion of innovation to more successfully integrate technological innovation in their businesses (Tola & Contini, 2015).

Operational Definitions

Following are definitions of terms I used in this study:

Business model: A business model is a system of interrelated activities that are dependent on one another and which define how a firm conducts business with clients (Kim & Min, 2015).

Business process: A business process is a group of activities in which one or more types of input are converted into output, which adds customer value (Jurisch, Palka, Wolf, & Kremar, 2014).

Business process innovation: Business process innovation is the performance of activities intended to produce noticeable and impressive paybacks resulting in the achievement of business objectives (Looy, Backer, & Poels, 2014).

Business process reengineering: Business process reengineering is a thorough restructuring of processes intended to produce quality, service, and cost enhancements (Hussein & Dayekh, 2014).

Disruptive technology: Disruptive technology is an innovation leveraging product and service improvement geared at obtaining unanticipated market returns and achieving potential trailblazing innovation (Christensen, 2013).

Industry transcending innovations: Industry transcending innovations are new products or services, which disrupt existing industries (Christensen, 2013).

Innovative technology: Innovative technology refers to new products or services that pose a challenge to industries or businesses (Christensen, 2013).

Knowledge diversity: Knowledge diversity refers to the solicitation of knowledge sharing across departments or firms and from individuals with diverse backgrounds (Brunswicker & Vanhaverbeke, 2014).

Swim lane map: A swim lane map is a type of flowchart depicting processes, decisions, and loops and how they integrate with one another. A swim lane map also includes subprocesses, places, methods, and activities in the form of lanes, which demarcate the responsibility of individuals or teams (Wolf, Doane, & Thompson, 2015).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are unconfirmed notions, which are accepted to be true (Roy & Pacuit, 2013). My first assumption in planning and conducting this study was that participants would be honest when responding to interview questions. I made these

assumptions because the research questions contained elements that required detailed explanation, and assumed participants would not clearly articulate their point of view. Qualitative researchers who use interview methods ask open-ended questions during interviews to explore underlying aspects of the phenomena they are studying (Yin, 2014). At the initial stage of the interview process, participants were abrupt with their responses to interview questions. As I continued to ask open-ended questions, participants became more comfortable and divulged information that addressed the interview questions. A second assumption was participants would not deviate from the research topic in responding to interview questions. I assumed they would, instead, relay real life experiences that related to the research.

Limitations

Limitations are potential weaknesses or gaps of the research (Holmes, 2013). The first limitation of this study was the research included only business managers and supervisors of small businesses in St. Lucia who had integrated technological innovations. This choice might have posed as a limitation because large businesses or governmental agencies were excluded from the research. If I had included these business entities in the research, the results of the research might have been different. A second limitation of this study was my small sample of 10 business managers and supervisors. Authors such as Robinson (2014) and Royset (2013), both whom have a vast knowledge of research, have asserted research results vary based on sample size. My research results may have differed had I used a larger number of participants.

Delimitations

Delimitations are limits or restrictions a researcher institutes in the study (Bhat, Gijo, & Jnanesh, 2014). One delimitation of my research was the location of the study, Castries St. Lucia. I did not extend the scope of my research over multiple geographical regions. I decided to focus on Castries because it is the capital of St. Lucia and has a high concentration of small businesses. A second delimitation was I only included 10 business managers and supervisors from two small businesses on the island. Another delimitation was that I conducted research on two companies using a multiple case study. This decision may have limited my ability to develop more themes and discover additional issues relating to technological innovations, which might have not been revealed researching only two businesses.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Findings may contribute knowledge regarding effective practices for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. The information may assist business managers and supervisors in identifying technological integration strategies. Researchers have found knowledge of such strategies can help business managers prevent business failure, reduce loss of revenue, improve productivity and profitability, and boost the economy (see Chew & Gottschalk, 2013; Desai, 2013; Haned et al., 2014).

Implications for Social Change

This study might contribute to social change by providing business managers and supervisors with a deeper understanding of systematic and strategic processes for

integration of technological innovations. They may be able to use this insight to improve performance, reduce the cost of doing business, and increase profits. Implications for social change also include the potential to provide the small business community with creative solutions to achieve change, use standards and improved processes, increase revenues from levies, develop businesses, and increase employment. An outcome of this study might be that business managers and supervisors of small business communities in St. Lucia are encouraged to use strategies for integrating technological innovations in small businesses on the island. This may lead to an increase in small business performance, revenue, and overall success.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative exploratory multiple case study was to explore strategies business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses in St. Lucia. The overarching research question for this study was, What strategies do business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses? I examined several technological innovation integration strategies, which may help business managers and supervisors integrate technological innovations and assist in achieving an increase in profitability and productivity for St. Lucian small businesses.

Several researchers have addressed the effects of integrating technological innovations such as business model realignment, disruptive innovation, training, diffusion of innovation, reactions to innovation, and profitability (Chew & Gottschalk, 2013; Coccia, 2014; Kesting & Günzel-Jensen, 2015; Harris et al., 2013). In this review, I examine literature, which relates to the success factors for integration of technological innovations (e.g., economic growth, competitive advantage, productivity, and efficiency). I also analyze scholarship on lessons learned from neglecting integration of technological innovations in small businesses. Several studies have been conducted on technological innovation integration strategies in small businesses (see Arora & Mithas, 2015; Atkin, Hunt, & Lin, 2015; Brunswicker & Vanhaverbeke, 2014; Chew & Gottschalk, 2013). My hope was to discover newer scholarly literature on specific to strategies small businesses in developing countries such as the Caribbean islands or in St. Lucia.

I begin the literature review with an overview of technology, followed by the concepts of innovation, technological innovation, disruptive technology, disruptive innovation, and diffusion of innovation. The literature review also includes strategies for successful integration of technological innovations, change management, business model alignment, and communication. It also includes discussion on successful technological innovation strategies in business, training, failure factors of integrating technological innovations, and technological innovation strategies for profitability and competitive advantage.

To construct the literature review, I obtained information through searches and examinations of recent research writing, in the area of technological innovation studies. I also accessed peer-reviewed literature by using databases from Walden University Library. These included Google Scholar, Emerald Management Journals, Business Source Complete, ABI/INFORM Complete, Science Direct, technological innovation studies, and Sage Management & Business Studies. The search included keywords and phrases such as innovation, disruptive innovation, disruptive technology, business process integration, business strategies, innovation strategies, sustainability, technological innovations, sustainable development, small businesses, diffusion of innovation, disruptive innovation, information systems, organizational change, technology adoption, technological strategies, cultural context, and process improvement. This literature review includes 285 journal articles and three books on topics referencing technological innovation integration strategies. Of a total of 285 references, 269 (98.5%) were peer-reviewed publications from between 2013 - 2017.

Overview of Technology

As the landscape of business and technology changes, business managers and supervisors have become more aware of the potential positive impact technology can have on their businesses. Technology is the diffusion of findings, new knowledge, or innovations from specific activities, which transfer to the products and processes of a business (Boccardi, Heath, Lozano, Marzetta, & Popovski, 2014). Berawi (2015) defined technology as an innovation process, which involves reinforcement of products or services by constructing, transforming, forecasting, and producing new product functionalities. The reengineering of processes and incorporation of new features into products may enhance the competitive value of technology and the potential to increase business productivity (Hussein & Dayekh, 2014). The performance of a business depends on how well the integration of new technology merges with business processes to develop better-quality products, which increase profitability and efficiency.

Concept of Innovation

Christensen (2013) conveyed one of the most common definitions of innovation, describing it as how an individual or societal group perceives an idea as being new. Other researchers have viewed innovation as a business's fundamental tactical means of entering and attracting new market competitors, securing a competitive advantage, and increasing the business's market share (Tavassoli & Karlsson, 2015). A business's drive for innovation fosters growth, creativity, and the ability to appeal to new entrants within similar markets (Ceicyte, 2015). The type of innovation, whether continuous or discontinuous, requires a transformation of current business processes, products, or services (Bateman & Davies, 2014). The act of transforming business processes may signal the presence of innovation in a business. Innovation results from successful strategies, sound market relationships, and investment (Rogers, 2015). Bartoloni and Baussola (2015) asserted innovation and creativity are preconditions for achieving successful development of new products and services. Innovation encompasses all factors leading to sustainable growth and profitability (Marcelino Sadaba, Perez-Ezcurdia, Echeverria-Lazcano, & Amurrio, 2015). Hence, business managers and supervisors should cultivate a business culture that encourages innovation to sustain the business, increase revenue, and stimulate future business expansion.

A business culture, which is focused on big thinking, is a catalyst for innovation and creativity, which results in concepts a layperson may not visualize (Bianchi & Steele, 2014; Suwannathat, Decharin, & Somboonsavatdee, 2015). Zhang and Zhu (2015) purported that innovation occurs in four dimensions: (a) product innovation, (b) process innovation, (c) marketing innovation, and (d) organizational innovation. A business may choose a form of innovation conducive to the financial and physical resources available to the business (Bateman & Davies, 2014). In light of the determinants of innovation, it is not typical for businesses to use all four innovation types simultaneously or in combination (Marcelino Sadaba, Perez-Ezcurdia, Echeverria-Lazcano, & Amurrio, 2015).

Product innovation involves development of new products for individuals internal and external to a business (Restuccia, de Brentani, Legoux, & Ouellet, 2015), whereas process innovation refers to adopting an innovation, either conceptually or physically, within a business (Schenk, 2014). Kumar and Zattoni (2014) described another innovation type, marketing innovation, as introducing a new marketing strategy into the business process by incorporating the four P's of marketing, namely, product packaging or design, placement, pricing, and promotion of products. Implementing the four Ps fosters customer satisfaction, encourages new product visibility, and opens up new investment avenues, which may, in turn, provide a surge in sales, and ultimately increase profits and improve organizational performance (La & Yi, 2015). The use of such marketing tactics can also result in new business development and expansion opportunities for small businesses.

Organizational innovation refers to the incorporation of a new business strategy, which reflects how a firm performs external relations or conducts business within the workplace (Aeron & Jain, 2015). Organizational innovation stems from aligning appropriate business strategy to the business objective, rather than focusing on the business structure (Berends, Jelinek, Reymen, & Stultiens, 2013). In considering the innovation dimensions of other research, Pelser (2014) asserted new product innovation and process innovation have the strongest connections and positive influences on organizational performance. These positive influences may support future business expansion and increase employment in a community.

The results of an analysis by (Hueske, et al., 2015) on the external environment business group and individual barrier model (EOGI model) highlighted that the EOGI model works as a conductor for minimizing innovation barriers. The model helps minimize innovation barriers and contribute to new firm competence, which includes having the interaction of a knowledgeable technical committee central to the business (Nambisan, 2013). The level of interaction usually centers on the business's innovation strategies.

Technological Innovation

Technological innovation is the level at which new technology surpasses seemingly superior technology (Christensen, 2013). Battisti, Colombo, and Rabbiosi (2015) described technological innovation as a process where new or improved technology is developed or purchased and put into extensive use. Hong, Kim and Cin (2015) described technological innovation as a process of utilizing upgraded technologies and solutions, sustaining market demands and customers.

Technological innovation provides solutions to development challenges businesses may experience (Aytekin, Degerli, & Degerli, 2015). Integrating technology may mean creating new interdependencies among platforms or a way to exhibit selfsufficiency. One of the most recent technological innovations reflecting both interdependence and self-sufficiency is cloud computing. Cloud computing is a direct result of increased use of information and the insatiable need for storing information online (Linthicum, 2016; Ratten, 2014). Cloud computing technology may provide businesses the ability to use basic technological services to access information and, at the same time, minimize the cost of acquiring hardware and software (Ratnam & Dominic, 2014; Tarmidi, Rasid, Alrazi, & Roni, 2014). The Malaysian government adopted cloud computing because it provides the seamless integration of the country's current technologies with cloud- computing technologies. The Malaysian government could then access information from various geographic regions on demand (Khan, 2014). The goal of the government of Malaysia was to spread cloud computing throughout the region (Abolfazli et al., 2015). Cloud computing may help businesses remain buoyant in both common and high-tech industries.

Business managers and supervisors understand and interpret technological innovation in the context of their immediate business environment (Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholl, & Ormston, 2013). The size of the business and level of innovation are important when considering the firm's strategic goals (Pellegrino & Vivarelli, 2015). Using technological innovation within the business may increase organizational performance, decrease transaction related costs, enhance workplace satisfaction, increase productivity, and create an avenue to gain implicit knowledge regardless of a focus on strategy or structure (Bala Subrahmanya, 2015). Research on the effects of technological innovations of customer satisfaction and operational performance among manufacturing companies revealed technological innovation has significant and positive effects on firm, delivery, cost, flexibility, and innovative performances (Abdallah, Phan, & Matsui, 2016; Kingston, 2015).

Concept of Disruptive Technology

What makes disruptive technology unique is the displacement of the dominant firm by the business, which currently owns the disruptive technology (Abraham, Harris, & Auerbach, 2015). Cases of disruptive technology include the displacement of brickand-mortar retailers to online retail stores, laptops displacing desktops, and more recently, smartphones displacing landlines or original cell phones. Foss and Saebi (2015) asserted disruptive technology may have adverse effects on a business's culture and business processes. Users easily accept disruptive technology if they comprehend the reason for the disruptive technology and how the disruptive technology may be beneficial. Researchers indicated management might differ during the evaluation and adoption of a disruptive technology because disruptive technology has more successful features than does sustaining technology (Brattstrom, Lofsten, & Richtner, 2015).

Disruptive technology involves new products and changes in the structure of a business (Menguc, Auh, & Yannopoulos, 2013). If business managers and supervisors observe how businesses with similar products and services use particular technological innovations and heed to lessons learned, business managers and supervisors may safeguard the business before the technology becomes disruptive. Business managers and supervisors should understand disruptive technology evolves. Disruptive technology delivers opportunities; however, if business managers and supervisors are not cautious when implementing disruptive technology, unanticipated risks may affect the business's cost and revenue (Lui, Ngai, & Lo, 2015). Business managers and supervisors neglecting to invest in disruptive technology may experience a sudden loss of market value (Yamagata-Lynch, Cowan, & Luetkehans, 2015). Moss (2014) stated companies such as Blockbuster, Nokia, Blackberry, Polaroid, Lucent, Compaq, Borland, and Kodak are companies which failed to demonstrate a proper reaction to disruptive technology.

Concept of Disruptive Innovation

Innovation may be disruptive, radical, incremental, or sustaining (Souto, 2015). Regardless of the nature of innovation, businesses ought to revisit the current business model to avoid the possibility of experiencing major setbacks in adapting to innovation. According to Gandhe (2015), disruptive innovation is a form of radical innovation involving the use of technologies as a tool to improve products and services through (a) the simplification of processes, (b) user-friendly technology, and (c) less expensive technology appealing to new or less-demanding customers. Christensen (2013) explored the way in which more superior technologies displaces traditional technologies. Christensen changed the term disruptive technology to disruptive innovation and argued technology, on its own, is not disruptive unless the use of the particular technology enables the company to undertake innovation (Christensen, 2013; Nagy, Schuessler, & Dubinsky 2016).

Business managers and supervisors may use the knowledge of disruptive innovation to identify innovation strategies, assess the business's capabilities for successfully integrating technological innovation, and avoid the challenges of adoption, acceptance, and assimilation of innovation within the business (Daidj, 2015). Disruptive innovation is not always complicated (Nagy, Schuessler, & Dubinsky 2016). Organizational readiness for disruptive innovation depends on the business's resources, processes, and values (Govindarajan & Ramamurti, 2014). According to Christensen (2013), a business's resources can be in the form of a purchase, sale, hire, or fire. Most organizational resources are usually measurable and may include equipment, people, technology, information, funding, product design, and relations with stakeholders and customers (Wendelken, Danzinger, Rau, & Moeslein, 2014). Business managers and supervisors may be able to assess the value of their business or investment according to the resources available to the business.

The process aspect of disruptive innovation is the ability for employees to perform recurrent jobs consistently over a long period. The process includes the development of a product, the manner of conducting market research, the business's budget, allocating resources, and employee compensation and development. The most critical process is supporting investment decisions. To support investment decisions, business managers and supervisors may focus on (a) how the business conducts market research, (b) how the business converts research into financial projections, (c) how the business negotiates budgets and plans, and (d) how the business delivers results (Ballot, Fakhfakh, Galia, & Salter, 2015). Values are standards employees may use to make and prioritize decisions (Blair, 2015). The kind of decisions the company may want to judge one outcome over another or weigh the importance of one customer over another. Values evolve; for instance, what may seem attractive at a particular juncture in the existence of the business may no longer be attractive as the business matures.

New technology influences the level of effectiveness and efficiency within a business and may have a positive impact on organizational performance and profitability (Atkin, Hunt, & Lin, 2015). Various industries experience disruptive innovation in the form of disruptive technology. For instance, mobile banking is a disruptive innovation offering customers value and benefits (Reddi, 2016). The use of mobile phones facilitate mobile internet banking in India, and was estimated to be a US\$350 billion industry in the year 2015 (Bryson, Atwal, Chaudhuri, & Dave, 2015). Countries in Africa are experiencing radical transformation as a result of mobile banking (Moser, 2015). Mobile Internet is a disruptive technology using inexpensive mobile devices with Internet capability to administer treatments of terminal illnesses via remote health examinations (You, Palmieri, & Barolli, 2015). In the past, farmers used expensive satellites to survey crops; today, farmers use less expensive technology such as drones to survey and analyze crop health and readiness (Wade, 2015).

Concept of Diffusion of Innovation

One of the most dominant models within the milieu of communication in marketing is diffusion of innovation (Nemutanzhela & Iyamu, 2015). Diffusion of innovation is a process by which innovation extends across communication channels and reaches members of social systems as time progresses (Rogers, 2015). The core concepts of diffusion of innovation encompass innovation, time, communication channels, and social systems (Rogers, 2015). Diffusion is more likely to occur when individuals have the same level of understanding about the innovation (Uchida, 2015).

Wei, Lowry, and Seedorf (2015) declared researchers use diffusion of innovation to explore how individuals react to the implementation of an innovation and the impending success of the implementation. An innovation is an idea or practice an individual interprets as new (McMullen, Griffiths, Leber, & Greenhalgh, 2015). New ideas open up opportunities for new direction and better business value (Aytekin, et al., 2015). Although diffusion theory refers to the spread of new approaches, objectives, or ideas the user may or may not accept or adopt the innovation. The tendency for a user to accept or adopt innovation is usually based on the user's organizational culture, characteristics of the particular innovation, or the indirect messages conveyed to the users by management (McMullen, Griffiths, Leber, & Greenhalgh, 2015). Innovation is the key to business growth development, and users are key players in the success of an innovation (Patnaik & Prasad, 2013). Business managers and supervisors should be mindful of the five factors, which influence the rate of technology adoption: (a) relative advantage, (b) compatibility, (c) complexity, (d) trialability, and (e) observability (Aizstrauta, Ginters, & Eroles, 2015; Rogers, 2015).

• Relative advantage is the notion of new technology being better than the technology of the past. The ability to reach and convince individuals who interact with new technology are the most important aspects of implementation. A user may hasten to accept an innovation if the user visualizes the benefits of the innovation. Harnessing the enthusiasm and

obligation of those key players to planned change is often the greatest challenge faced by management.

- Compatibility is whether individuals perceive the new technology will meet needs, current values, and is consistent with previous experience with other technology.
- Complexity refers to the perception about new technology being difficult to comprehend and navigate. This aspect of the innovation process requires learning and acquiring new skill sets.
- Trialability is the extent to which the new technology has been tried and improved upon. This is an evaluation stage to ascertain whether the innovation is deal for the business.
- Observability is whether individuals acknowledge and comprehend the benefits of the innovation. At this point users or businesses accept or do not implement the innovation (Aizstrauta, Ginters, & Eroles, 2015; Rogers, 2015).

Some researchers classify relative advantage, complexity, and compatibility as processes towards technology adoption (Mehmood, Barbieri, & Bonchi, 2015). Saenz-Royo, Gracia-Lázaro and Moreno (2015) highlighted technical elements of compatibility and complexity as perceived ease of use and relative advantage as perceived need in the adoption process.

Modeling adoptions and the stages of diffusion MASD may help ascertain how innovation or a phenomenon spreads within a population (Mehmood, Barbieri, & Bonchi, 2015). According to Rogers (2015), adopters of innovation or early adopters represent 13.5% of the population. Early adopters are usually opinion business managers and supervisors and are discrete in adoption choices (Rogers, 2003). Innovators refer to a group of individuals who are risk takers and the first to adopt an innovation. Innovators are usually in the top echelon of a social class (Christensen, 2013). Laggards represent 16% of a population and include individuals who focus on tradition, and are the last to adopt an innovation (Rogers, 2003; Triguero, Moreno-Mondéjar, & Davia, 2014). Late majority are individuals who adopt an innovation after average individuals of society and are skeptics of innovation (Aizstrauta, Ginters, & Eroles 2015; Rogers, 2003). The early majority consists of individuals who have an above average social status and typically adopt an innovation over time (Christensen, 2013). Early and late majorities believe innovation generates business value and represent 34% of the population (Christensen, 2013; Rogers, 2003).

Communication. The communication channels of innovation refer to the way in which innovation transmits from one individual or team to another (Aizstrauta, Ginters, & Eroles, 2015). The communication channel may be verbal, via interpersonal communication, team meetings, mass media, intranet, and so forth. The method of communication is vital in spreading innovation as the communication method may determine how users receive, accept, adopt, or reject the innovation. Business managers and supervisors may consider the culture of the business to determine the best method of transferring information about the innovation. According to Rogers (2015), time affects the diffusion of innovation in various ways:

- The length of time a user takes to accept the innovation after introducing the innovation to users.
- How open is the user to innovation in comparison to other individuals in the same environment? This means, the mentality of the user towards change or something new.
- The proportion of individuals who accept and adopt the innovation and the length of time the individuals take to accept, adopt, or reject the innovation.

According to Wei, Lowry and Seedorf (2015), the social system aspect of innovation deals with collaboration among members to resolve issues relating to the innovation. Individuals may come to a consensus quickly when those individuals understand the purpose of the innovation has one common goal. A comparison of Roger's seminal work on innovation diffusion behavior with Hofstede's culture dimensions on individualism/collectivism and uncertainty avoidance revealed both cultural dimensions influence the rate at which diffusion occurs (Desmarchelier & Fang, 2016).

Another scholar asserted the diffusion of innovation theory constitutes three main groups:

- The characteristic of the individual (leader) refers to the individual's approach to change in a business.
- The internal attributes of the business comprise qualities, which foster innovation adoption, centralization of knowledge, harnessing a high level of skills, organizational culture and social capital, the structure of interpersonal networks, and the size of the business.

• The external characteristics of the business which involves how open the business is towards innovation (Gu, Schniederjans, & Cao, 2015).

Strategies for Successfully Integrating Technological Innovations

Vargas (2015) asserted during the phases of the innovation cycle, businesses may amass specific innovation competencies to grapple with managing emerging change challenges, which may inhibit the business's potential to attain a high level of efficiency and profitability. Business managers and supervisors may develop the aptitude to manage new technological innovations effectively by investing in integrative skills (Brownsword, 2016). The integration of technological innovation may require employees to perform jobs differently. Most technological innovations are in the form of software and may necessitate changes to equipment, procedures, operating systems, hardware, and service oriented changes (Shrivastava, Ivanaj, & Ivanaj, 2016).

Change management. The concept of managing change shifts from change control, which deals with the need for change restrictions, to change management, which describes overseeing the change process (Rose, 2015). Change management is a systematic method of organizing, coordinating, managing, and reporting system changes possibly having adverse effects on the delivery of service (Slater, Evans, & Turner, 2015). The human element of change is critical to succeed at technological innovation integration. Before change occurs, business managers and supervisors should make certain change recipients understand why the change is occurring and how stakeholders may benefit from the change. To manage change, business managers and supervisors may incorporate sound change management strategies involving every layer of the business.
The change management strategies may include conveying to change recipients how the new technology fits into the current environment and explanations and specific training regarding new functionalities of the innovation (Slater, Evans, & Turner, 2015). According to Guisado-Gonzalez, Vila-Alonso and Guisado-Tato (2016), training may have a profound influence on a business's productivity.

To address issues or concerns relating to innovation, business managers and supervisors need various channels of communication to reach out to change recipients. The business may convince users of change through media such as meetings, bulletins, intranet, and frequent emails (Brookes, 2015). The business should respond to questions, concerns, and issues adversely affecting employee morale (Sania, Kalpina, & Javed, 2015). Business managers and supervisors should encourage an atmosphere of knowledge sharing and provide adequate training to elevate employees comfort and confidence level navigating the new technology successfully. Management should ensure individuals going through technological change understand the reason for innovation efforts. The overall change management process should include every department or stakeholder the potential change affects.

Regardless of the industry, and the type of technological innovation, change management should produce opportunities for continuous improvement. Continuous improvement is a competence to improve, grow, and develop on current products, processes, and services of the business (O'Brien, 2016). Continuous improvement is one of the elements driving innovation into scalability and sustainability, thereby creating a platform for competitive advantage. The basis of a competitive business as it relates to technological innovation is the management of the business model and innovation (Chroneer, Johansson, & Malmstrom, 2015).

Business model alignment. Business models are essential for innovation, thus, business managers and supervisors should develop and manage business models to capture value and deliver successful innovations for the business (Malmstrom, 2013). The alignment of the company's business model with innovation efforts is vital to generate high venture performance (Bicen & Johnson, 2015). With the use of a business model, business managers and supervisors may be able to accomplish the following:

- Express the value proposition (Aghdaie & Alimardani, 2015; Scannella, 2015; Sharma & Ghosh, 2015).
- Isolate a market segment (Aghdaie & Alimardani, 2015).
- Describe the configuration of the value chain of the business and determine the other assets business managers and supervisors may require for support to the value chain within the business (Aghdaie & Alimardani, 2015; Scannella, 2015; Sharma & Ghosh, 2015).
- Provide an estimation of the cost structure and profit potential of the new value resulting from the new technology (Aghdaie & Alimardani, 2015; Ihemeje, 2015; Scannella, 2015; Sharma & Ghosh, 2015).
- Create a value network linking suppliers and customers (Aghdaie & Alimardani, 2015; Scannella, 2015; Sharma & Ghosh, 2015; Sheehan & Bruni-Bossio, 2015).

Formulate a competitive strategy, in which the business will build a sustaining competitive advantage over the competitors (Aghdaie & Alimardani, 2015; Lorange & Datson, 2014; Scannella, 2015; Sharma & Ghosh, 2015).

The disbursement of cash towards developing new business models by worldwide conglomerates amount to more than 10% of their total investment (Bereznoi, 2015). Integrating technological innovations provides resources to optimize decision making, which may improve the quality and efficiency of business (Bolsinger, 2014). The business may utilize practices, which may have a clear path to attaining strategic vision, goals, and provide continual product and process improvement. Excellent innovation strategies ought to include the Deming plan-do-study-act cycle PDSA analysis before implementing change (Hood, 2014). PDSA is a systematic series of steps comprising four elements, which would possibly steer businesses in achieving metrics. The Plan step of the cycle is where the business may identify organizational purpose or goal and frame a model defining success metrics the business may put into action. To obtain success metrics, the business may establish a team of forward thinking individuals knowledgeable of the issue, product, or opportunity requiring improvement. The team in charge of identifying success metrics for the business may have the mandate to identify roles, tasks, set milestones, and set up meetings to examine and describe the business's existing business context and process. The success metrics team should be aware of what the business is currently doing and how the business achieves the mission. The success metrics team should comprehend the following:

- The steps in the current business process.
- The individuals who drive the process.
- The roles of individuals in the process.
- How to improve the current process (Donnelly & Kirk, 2015).

One popular tool for visually mapping out the business process is the swim lane map which includes individuals, responsibilities, and timelines in the form of a map (Hood, 2014). Hood (2014) asserted, if roadblocks exist, the swim lane map may assist businesses in identifying where and what is wrong. According to Wolf, Doane, and Thompson, (2015), the business may want to formulate an aim statement focusing on three questions:

- What is the business trying to accomplish?
- What dictates whether the change is an improvement or not?
- What changes can the business make resulting in improvement?

The Plan phase also includes examining the business's current processes by determining whether the processes are efficient and cost effective. The Do step is where the business may implement the components of the plan and transform the success metrics into the actual product. In the Do step, the success metrics team may utilize specific tools, such as a check sheet or a run chart to document results of data occurrences over a period.

The Study step involves the changes from the improvement. The business may monitor the results of the product to assess validity as it relates to success, progress, issues, and areas requiring improvement. Utilizing the aim statement, the team may want to determine if the plan is (a) an actual improvement, (b) if the plan is within budget, (c) whether the plan is worthy of investing, and (d) if there are any impending repercussions.

The Act step is the end of the cycle. The Act step is where the business uses the new knowledge from the entire PDSA process to adjust goals, and change or re-engineer the business model (Thompson, 2015). If the plan is successful, the plan should become a standard and the business may use the plan as an element of the business process. The dynamic nature of business and technology may propel the business to revisit the business process or plan to make improvements from lessons of previous performances. According to Kong and Kong (2013), the PDSA cycle is an effective strategy regardless of the resources available within a business. This PDSA cycle is an iteration put in motion to gauge continual improvement (Donnelly & Kirk, 2015).

Successful innovation strategies in business. Teoh and Cai (2015) noted the agile approach is typically used to aid in development, innovation, diffusion, and influence information technology enabled innovations. Arora and Mithas (2015) highlighted an example of technological innovation integration strategies used by a renowned Indian company (akin to the GE of India) a giant employer in the private sector in the UK and India. Arora and Mithas (2015) asserted the overall strategy of the company is to develop innovation aptitude, measure the innovation, facilitate the innovation, and foster a recognition and reward mechanism for innovation (Arora & Mithas, 2015). The company's approach was to create an innovation forum comprising CEOs and other top executives who met quarterly to discuss and fill gaps in their innovation model. The innovation forum fostered an innovative environment as they

advised the corporation on innovation improvement capabilities to champion a community of innovation evangelists (Arora & Mithas, 2015). Learning missions where site visits to renowned firms such as 3M, Raytheon, HP, Hitachi, Olympus, among other giant companies, were set up to gain an intimate appreciation of their innovation strategies (Arora & Mithas, 2015). As a drive towards innovation, business managers and supervisors may conduct low-cost experiments and focus on enhancing communication across management and incorporating innovation into their in-house business model.

An additional innovation strategy is to assess as is innovation status quo regarding the process of innovation, the innovation culture and how innovation is strategically in line with business strategy (Hao & Song, 2015). The as is strategy solicits valuable feedback detailing whether employees and management have sufficient resources, the prospects of innovation, and are empowered to innovate. Applying corporate innovation strategy allowed a renowned business to realize tremendous financial growth from being a US \$5.8 billion Indian company in 1992 to a US \$103 billion worldwide establishment in 2014 (Arora & Mithas, 2015). The company's revenue external to India is in excess of 65%. In addition, because of using these strategies, the company experienced a 20% benefit in revenue gains and 80% in innovation cost reduction (Arora & Mithas, 2015).

To enable flexibility in making decisions to foster profitability, businesses may experiment with and test new business models (Arora & Mithas, 2015). Instead of simply introducing new hardware into the market, Apple changed the company's business model to accommodate a continuous customer relationship. The decision to transform Apple's business model afforded Apple the opportunity to expand the core of innovation from the actual product space to the business model (Nicolás, & Sanz, 2014).

Training. Technological innovation can promote diversity and inclusion. Business managers and supervisors should prepare the business to respond to disruptive technology by ensuring the business's business model captures the value of disruptive technology may produce new metrics for the business (Narasimha & Vijaya, 2015). Lack of sufficient technical skills, training and exposure to the innovation may pose a barrier to adopting an innovation. Management may invest heavily in training and have exposure to technology aiding in the successful implementation of technological innovations and improve the business's operative challenges (Dwomoh, 2015). One strategy is to provide frequent training in the form of innovation workshops with prominent innovation experts where the innovation group would discuss concepts and features of the innovation to individuals (Hamada, 2014).

Several individuals own a smartphone with Internet connectivity. Thus, business managers and supervisors should use disruptive technologies to educate individuals within the company about disruptive technologies. A key example of a disruptive technology to expedite training and continuous education is the mobile internet, which may be less expensive and more accessible to employees and stakeholders (You, Palmieri, & Barolli, 2015).

Failure Factors of Integrating Technological Innovations

Attempting for integrating technological innovations may fail for a number of reasons. Some small and medium enterprises fail at innovation because of a lack of

appropriate resources, technical aptitude, and the absence of internal strategies (Bala Subrahmanya, 2015). One key reason for unsuccessful innovations is too little investment unable to produce substantial future returns (Comedy & Grama, 2016). The lack of cultural context, lack of adoption behavior, and resistance to change within the business are also failure factors of innovation (Heidenreich & Kraemer, 2015).

Business managers and supervisors have great difficulty using or managing innovations, which do not fit within the business leader's former experience. The difficulty may stem from the characteristics of the new technology, or management processes for the innovation (Nedbal, 2013). There is little empirical evidence addressing how to avoid high failure rates of innovation (Chor, Wisdom, Olin, Hoagwood, & Horwitz, 2014; Heidenreich & Kraemer, 2015). The absence of technological innovation integration strategies is an opening for pitfalls originating from poor technology adoption, lack of innovation management, cultural context evasion, lack of appropriate training, insufficient funding, management, employee resistance to change, and the absence of technology acceptance (Ahangama & Poo, 2015). Technological innovations, which do not meet the needs of the business have the potential to receive resistance during diffusion. Some huge corporations continuing to develop and launch innovations fail to integrate new business models aligning with innovations (Taran, Boer, & Lindgren, 2015).

Absence of business model alignment. The manner in which a product or project fits into a current business model encourages the decision to invest in the project (Kesting & Günzel-Jensen, 2015). Businesses focusing on product improvement and investing in

innovations, which do not meet the needs of employees or customers fully, limit the business's growth potential. The business neglecting to act on innovation opportunities allows other firms using more foresight to gain competitive advantage (Lucas & Goh, 2013).

The absence of business model alignment was a reason for Kodak's financial demise in 2012 (Harris, 2014). Although Kodak had brilliant engineers in digital photography in 1975, the company did not integrate the invention with the business model (Lucas & Goh, 2013). Instead, Kodak worked on improving cameras and film quality and neglecting to create a new business model to facilitate a radical disruptive innovation (Harris, 2014). Kodak did not transform the company's business model, and was unable to reach their end users. Kodak experienced a colossal financial loss because of the company's neglect to incorporate a business model in alignment with the company's vision (Pasternak, 2015).

The Xerox Corporation also experienced several innovation failures (Carayannis, Samara, & Bakouros, 2014). Xerox fell short in managing its intellectual property rights (i.e., neglecting to patent ideas and take advantage of strategically corporate secrets) (O'Regan, 2015). The absence of securing Xerox's intellectual property rights provided opportunities for other businesses of similar interests to exploit the ideas of the corporation. Another innovation failure was a lack of strategies to avoid technological and business risk, which emanated due to not understanding the culture of the business (Ye, Jha, & Desouza, 2015). Xerox also experienced failure in market strategy, as the various divisions of the business were not culturally synchronized (Carayannis et al., 2014).

Technological Innovation Strategies for Profitability and Competitive Advantage

The prevalent use of technology in business provides a window of opportunity for business managers and supervisors to gain an in-depth understanding of how to approach technological innovation investment and utilize innovation to acquire more revenue for the firm (Maiga, Nillson, & Ax, 2015). Innovation and research and development (R&D) are key drivers of high organizational performance and profitability (Segarra & Teruel, 2014). Small businesses should understand the needs of customers before integrating a technological innovation. Customer value and the integration of technological innovations go hand-in-hand. Creating customer value is important to sustainable business growth and securing a competitive advantage. To create customer value, business managers and supervisors should incorporate the right technological innovation, which may help secure a competitive edge in the business arena. Businesses need disruptive innovation to revitalize products, services and even for the entire business to gain a competitive advantage and improve profitability (Ryan, 2013). Large industrial firms have broad R&D innovation facilities to isolate disruptive technologies, which may offer a lasting competitive edge (Reddi, 2016).

The future return on investments in business process improvement is usually uncertain. Investing in one type of technological innovation does not guarantee success (Maiga et al., 2015). Commissioning technological development alone is not sufficient to realize a significant profit (Arora & Mithas, 2015). To be profitable, business managers

and supervisors should endeavor to seal the gap between the need for technological innovation to deliver, its capacity to deliver and the speed at which it may deliver (Aarnio, 2015).

For a business to achieve profitability from technological innovation integration, management might place great emphasis on restructuring and aligning the business model with the business's vision and capitalizing on major breakthroughs (Maiga, 2015). A business's business processes and financial performance are determinants of the overall performance and profitability of a company (Chairoel, Widyarto, & Pujani, 2015). The results of other studies indicated both internal and external implementations of successful technological innovations are generally associated with quality and cost performance (Maryska & Doucek, 2015). For a business to accomplish ultimate operational performance, the business should have an increase in productivity and a reduction in cost (Azarenkova, Golovko, & Ponomarenko, 2015).

Variables with the propensity to generate profit and incur costs within a business are typically easy to isolate because, more often than not, management is aware of profit and cost parameters. Nonetheless, for business managers and supervisors to obtain a more profound appreciation of the relationship between cost and product, the company may perform a more extensive analysis of activities to identify cost drivers and business processes (Padula, Novelli, & Conti, 2015). The most critical corporate performance management (CPM) area is *profitability modeling and optimization*, which deals with what-if analyses, optimization costs, and product profitability (Maiga et al., 2015). Most investigators of the nexus between innovation and profitability use the number of innovations to determine the innovation capability of a business (Saunila, Ukko, & Rantanen, 2014). Instead of relying on the number of business innovations solely, companies should examine the factors leading to profitability in small businesses (Krcal, 2014). While differing perspectives exist on how to make innovation a success, some scholars agree on the positive effects of innovation, when it occurs, and how it contributes to organizational profitability (Ghosh & Sur, 2015). Opportunities exist for businesses to maximize profits by capitalizing on disruptive innovations, which may minimize operational cost and yield high revenue. Govindarajan and Ramamurti (2014) asserted companies implementing disruptive innovations have the propensity to gain more at less cost because the innovation provides customers at the bottom of the pyramid with a package of features possessing higher significance on the customer's tier than in the mainstream market.

Transition

Section 1 consisted of the focus of the study, the strategies business managers and supervisors may use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses for profitability and efficiency. The first element of Section 1 was the background of the problem with subsequent discussions on the problem and purpose statements, nature of the study, research questions and interview questions, conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations and delimitations, and the significance of the study. Section 1 also included a review of the professional and academic literature, which

highlighted the disruptive and diffusion of innovation models forming the conceptual framework for the study.

Section 2 includes discussions on the role of the researcher, participants, research method and research design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and techniques, data business techniques, data analysis, and reliability and validity. Section 3 contains the findings, the study's application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, and conclusions.

Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this qualitative exploratory multiple case study was to explore the strategies business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. In Section 2, I provide information on the project, including the role of the researcher, participants, research method, and research design. The section 2 also includes details about my population and sampling technique, data collection analysis procedures, issues of ethical research, and the reliability and validity of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. The target population included business managers and supervisors from two small businesses in the Caribbean island of St. Lucia. This study may contribute to positive social change by providing business managers and supervisors on the island with a broad understanding of strategies they may use, and innovative solutions for the integration of technological innovations in their business. Implementation of these strategies may result in better business practices, expansion of businesses, increases in tax revenues and employment, and a boost to the economy.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher is central to the data collection process. In qualitative research, the researcher plays an integral role in understanding the experiences and behaviors of participants (Bashir, Sirlin, & Reeder, 2014). The researcher listens, avoids

being judgmental, and remains focused, involved, and interested in each participant's responses. In accordance with the Belmont Protocol Report, researchers must adhere to ethical standards and guidelines for the protection of research participants (Zucker, 2014). My role was to interview 10 participants from two companies, collect and analyze data, and manage the course of the interview process while protecting the privacy of participants. I possess extensive experience in technological innovation integration, and I have played an integral role in integrating technological innovations in businesses within the public and private sectors of St. Lucia.

Bashir et al. (2014) asserted confirmation bias is one of the most common researcher biases during research. Confirmation bias occurs when there is subjectivity in the research process, which occurs when the researcher filters participants' information and use a subset of information relating to the researcher's preexisting beliefs (Wu, Xu, Wang, Ma, & Kuang, 2013). To reduce confirmation bias, I performed a series of reassessments of my interpretation of participants and sought to challenge my preexisting assumptions. An example of confirmation bias would be the issue of gun control in the United States. If an individual is a proponent of gun control, their natural tendency is to defend and deflect any negativity associated with the gun control topic. This may be construed as confirmation bias.

Culture bias occurs when researchers judge and make inferences relating to the participants' responses, and measure the participants from the influence of the researcher's personal cultural background (Sparks, Cunningham, & Kritikos, 2016; Withers & Nadarajah, 2015). To avoid culture bias, I was mindful of cultural variances

and what would be acceptable in one culture might not be acceptable in another culture. I demonstrated absolute respect for the participants' culture by disassociating aspects of my culture from the culture of the participants. I actively listened to the participants' responses and kept a journal with written notes to avoid potential cultural bias during the research.

According to Yin (2014), the use of an interview protocol is important to ensure collected data will address the initial research question. I followed an interview protocol I developed for this research (see Appendix A) to conduct the interviews. I obtained approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval number **01-13-17-0243729** before starting the semistructured interviews. I conducted semistructured interviews to gain an understanding of strategies business managers and supervisors reference when integrating technological innovations in the business. To maintain privacy and proper research decorum, I kept the participants' information confidential. I will store collected data in a bank safe for a minimum of 5 years before discarding all electronic and non-electronic transcripts.

Participants

To be eligible to participate in the study, individuals had to be working in a small business in St. Luca in one of the following roles for at least 5 years: information technology manager, chief engineer, customer service manager, chief financial officer (CFO), business manager, corporate communications manager, systems control manager, chief executive officer (CEO), human resource manager, and audit manager. Participants with knowledge and experience of a phenomena are generally in a position to make decisions associated with new ventures, and are more willing to participate in research (Marshall & Rossman, 2015; McCullagh, Sanon, & Cohen, 2014; Prior, 2014). The aforementioned participants were part of senior management who have qualifications and immediate experience integrating technological innovations in a business.

To gain access to participants, I sought authorization from Walden University's (IRB) to conduct the research. On February 22nd 2017, I notified the executives from the two interview sites via e-mail that I had received IRB approval to conduct the research. The executives of the two businesses signed letters of cooperation (see Appendix B) and scanned and e-mailed the original documents to me. They also provided a list of prospective participants, including their positions, and length of tenure.

The success of a research study is dependent in part on the relationship that is established between the researcher and the participant (Manning & Kunkel, 2014; Shuchman, 2014; Yin, 2013; Zhao & Haga, 2013). To foster a working relationship with participants, I wrote an e-mail to introduce myself and explain the reason for the research. The email included the purpose of the study, selection criteria, and the advantages of the study. I made contact with prospective participants by telephone, e-mail, and Skype.

Researchers such as Aaanon (2014), Dickert (2013) and Zutlevics (2016) conducted research in with they did not of compensate participants. In the same way, I did not offer compensation to participants for the study. To protect participants from harm, researchers should remain transparent with participants (Allen & Wiles, 2015; Kornbluh, 2015; Yin, 2014). I sought to avoid using any form of deception during this study. Confidentiality and anonymity are critical aspects of research (Dhai & PayneJames, 2013; Young & Temple, 2014; Kornbluh, 2015). In order to foster confidentiality and prevent participants from being in any undesirable position, I ensured participants were anonymous by referring to them using pseudonyms.

As a guarantee of privacy, and to cultivate confidence and trust, many researchers use pseudonyms to identify participants and businesses during a research investigation (Allen & Wiles, 2015; DeFeo, 2013; Young & Temple, 2014). In the same way, I used pseudonyms to identify participants and preserve the anonymity of the business and participants in my study. I told participants they were free to discontinue participation in the study during the informed consent process. Researchers follow a research protocol where participants sign informed consent forms to participate in research (Anderson, 2015; Leung, 2015; Nalini, 2015). I ensured research participants replied *I consent* to the e-mail I sent them containing an attached informed consent form. I will store digital data on a password-protected computer and nondigital data in a bank safe, where it will be kept for a minimum of 5 years.

Research Method and Design

Researchers use a variety of methods to conduct research, which includes quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (Chen & Liu, 2014). A researcher selects a research method that addresses adequately the research question (Hammersley, 2013). The qualitative method is appropriate when the focus of the study is on real-life human experiences in a natural environment (Elo et al., 2014). Researchers use the quantitative method when conducting deductive research to test correlations among variables (Hafford-Letchfield, 2014). Mixed method research is used by scholars to develop a qualitative and quantitative perspective to answer the research question (Mauceri, 2015).

Research Method

Qualitative research is a nonmeasurable process of inquiry, which generates data and insight from human environment (Creamer & Tendhar, 2016; Sarma, 2015; Sotiriadou, Brouwers, & Liang, 2014). Morse (2015) stated there are five types of qualitative research: phenomenology, grounded theory, narrative, ethnography, and case study. Researchers use the qualitative approach to understand participants' emotional state, and the interpretation of various events, material objects, and cultural environments (Khan, 2014; Yin, 2014). The purpose of qualitative research is to perform in-depth analyses of participants' lived experiences within the participant's natural environment (Fields, 2015).

After assessing the work of Khan (2014), Sarma (2015) and Yin (2014) I am confident the qualitative research method was most suitable for this study. The use of the qualitative method was appropriate to communicate with business managers and supervisors, engage in semistructured interviews with open-ended questions, and observe the participants in their day-to-day natural surroundings. I was able to perform a thorough investigation and gained insight into the technological innovation integration strategies business managers and supervisors use in small businesses in St. Lucia.

The quantitative method is a deductive approach of examining and measuring cause and effect phenomena in an objective, systematic, and formal manner, which quantifies and produces data in a statistical format (Bambale, 2014; Hafford-Letchfield, 2014; Salkovska & Ogsta, 2014; Stoudt, 2014). I did not use the quantitative method for this research because the objective of this study was to gain deeper insight into the strategies business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. Also, I did not choose the quantitative method because my intention was not to perform analyses and generation of statistical data.

Researchers use the mixed methods approach for collecting, analyzing, and combining qualitative and quantitative data in one research study (Newman, Lim, & Pineda, 2013; Rice et al., 2014; Zang, 2014). A mixed method integrates qualitative and quantitative methods and is ideal for longitudinal studies (Kachouie & Sedighadeli, 2015; Podmetina, Volchek, & Smirnova, 2015; Ramlo, 2015; Rice et al., 2014; Sadan, 2014). Morse and Cheek (2014) indicated regardless of the multiple approaches within the mixed method, the research method might present challenges. I did not use the mixed methods approach for this study because I sought a profound understanding of the issues related to the integration of technological innovation and did not need the added incentive to aggregate numbers.

There is a small pool of successful innovation strategies addressing the rate of small business failure (Nguyen et al., 2013). Business managers and supervisors may reengineer their business model to synchronize with the technological innovation (Bala Subrahmanya, 2015). Adjusting the business processes to mirror the technological innovation might enhance or foster the growth and development of small businesses.

Research Design

The five qualitative research designs are phenomenological, grounded theory, narrative, ethnography, and case study (Tetnowski, 2015). Research scholars use case study design to find answers to *how* and *why* research questions (Dumez, 2015; Tetnowski, 2015; Yin, 2014). I used a case study design for the study for answering *how* and *why* research questions. Researchers use the case study approach to examine phenomenon (Garcia, 2014; Zheng-yao & Qing-sen, 2013). Tetnowski (2015) asserted researchers should utilize a multiple case study design across multiple research sites to collect data.

Yin (2014) described a case study as exploratory, explanatory, and descriptive. Researchers utilize qualitative exploratory case study to explore situations where the intervention does not highlight any clear or sole set of results (Bailey, 2014; Charmaz, 2014; Yin, 2014). In a similar study, Johnson (2016) utilized an exploratory case study to conduct semistructured open-ended interviews with two individuals who experienced the integration of information technology in a business. The qualitative multiple case study was appropriate for this study because the purpose of this study was to explore strategies business managers and supervisors used for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. Researchers use multiple case study to interpret various dimensions of data (Dumez, 2015; Hott, Limberg, Ohrt, & Schmit, 2015; Yin, 2013). I used multiple case study to interpret several dimensions of data, about the phenomenon.

Scholars use explanatory case studies when the researcher wants to seek answers to questions explaining relations in real-life interventions, too complex to conduct via survey or experiments (Garcia, 2014; Johansen, Ness, & Wennesland, 2015). According to Yin (2014), an evaluation within explanatory design would link program implementation with effects. Sfar (2013) utilized an explanatory case study to explain determinants of organizational adoption of technological innovations concerning electronic-banking. The explanatory case study did not coordinate with the purpose of this research.

Phenomenology involves discussion on current phenomena in real-life contexts (Chan et al., 2013; Davidsen, 2013; Yin, 2013). In phenomenological research, there are correlations among the internal and external perceptions of natural objects, opinions and memories (Moustakas, 1994). The objective of phenomenologists is to comprehend the lived experiences of participants as they endeavor to derive meaning from the phenomenon (Sloan & Bowe, 2013, Yin, 2013). I realized the phenomenological approach did not harmonize with the overarching research question because I evaluated strategies business managers and supervisors, used for integrating technological innovations via observations and semistructured interviews.

Another qualitative research design is ethnography, which provides an opportunity for the researcher to immerse into the lives of research participants (Davies, 2015; Shimei et al., 2016; Hamilton, 2015). An ethnographer is involved in the lives of participants and collects data in the participant's immediate environment. Researchers who use ethnography conduct on-site research and several data sources to reach triangulation (Armstrong, 2015; Shimei et al., 2016; Vernon, 2015). Ethnography involves studying participants over an extended period to explore shared norms, beliefs, and language of a cultural group (Mannay & Morgan, 2014). Ethnography was not appropriate for this study because the focus was not on exploring the process within a group of individuals.

The grounded theory involves formulating theories for large populace, data collection guidance, and procedures for analyzing data (Cooke, 2013; Moss, Gibson, & Dollarhide, 2014; Smith, 2015). Barnsley (2015) conducted a grounded theory research to perform feminist theological enquiry. Grounded theory was not a suitable design for this study because I did not use a large population, as my sample size was 10 business managers and supervisors from two small businesses.

A narrative inquiry involves storytelling, art or autobiographies (Kuronen, 2014; Raeburn et al., 2015; Von Contzen & Alders, 2015). Penninckx, Vanhoof, De Maeyer and Van Petegem (2015) used narrative enquiry to conduct research investigating the extent to which strategic activities, disturbing effects, and emotional side effects occur in the case schools. Narrative design can lead to a figurative rather than literal interpretation of the concept of storytelling (Bjerstedt, 2015). In light of the above discovery, narrative inquiry was not appropriate for this research.

Data saturation is critical in maintaining creditability, transferability, dependability and confirmability of research (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Researchers reach data saturation when no new information, no new themes or no new codes emerge from the data collection and analysis process (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Morse, 2015; Yin, 2014). I reached data saturation after interviewing the 4th participant from BUS1 and the 3rd participant from BUS2. I asked probing questions to all participants until there were no new ideas, no new themes or no new codes from responses.

Population and Sampling

The target population of this study was 10 business managers and supervisors from various departments within two small businesses in St. Lucia. The population segment comprising of management level individuals is appropriate for a study because typically, owners and managers have a thorough and first-hand understanding of business challenges (Emmel, 2015; Fugard & Potts, 2015; Marshall et al., 2013). The population aligned with the overarching research question because the participants for this study possessed profound experience and in-depth knowledge using strategies for integrating technological innovations in small businesses.

Qualitative researchers asserted in qualitative research, purposeful criterion sampling is used when participants possess experience and knowledge about a research topic (Emmel, 2015; Fugard & Potts, 2015; Grossoehme, 2014; Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, & Fontenot, 2013). Arnold (2016) used purposeful criterion to determine strategies for reducing high turnover among information technology professionals. In a research similar to this study, Okonkwo (2016) justified the use of purposeful criterion sampling to explore innovation strategies of small businesses in Central North Carolina. Researchers conducting qualitative research use purposeful sampling to establish criteria, which qualify research participants to be part of the research (Bungay, Oliffe & Atchison, 2015; Cleary, Horsfall & Hayter, 2014; Smith, 2016). I used purposeful criterion sampling to identify and select participants who used technological innovations in the business and met the participant criteria.

The sample size refers to the number of units the researcher will be observing (Marshall et al., 2013; Randall & Gibson, 2013). Researchers choose a sample size based on how much information power the sample holds (Morse, 2015). Arnold (2016) used a sample size of information technology leaders who were knowledgeable of the research question. Likewise, Okonkwo (2016) used a sample size which included individuals who had experience using innovation strategies for small businesses. The more information the sample holds about the research, the smaller the sample size (Malterud, Siersma, & Guassora, 2015). I interviewed 10 business managers and supervisors and performed member checking to reach data saturation. I conducted member checking by allowing the research participants to review and validate my interview notes.

Data saturation is the central concept in qualitative research (Fusch & Ness, 2015). The number of interviews a researcher conducts during research without the emergence of new themes or ideas presents a stop criterion, which is data saturation (Morse, 2015). To reach data saturation, I asked probing questions to all participants until there were no new ideas from responses. To address the overreaching interview question, every interview contained seven open-ended questions.

Ethical Research

Researchers use consent forms to provide information to participants to ensure confidentiality and protection of participant rights during the data collection process (Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2013; Koonrungsesomboon, Laothavorn, & Karbwang, 2015; Newington & Metcalfe, 2014). The process of obtaining informed consent involves explaining to the participant (a) the purpose of study and how it may contribute to the business, (b) the procedures for conducting study, and (c) the voluntary nature of the study. The informed consent process includes clarification on (a) benefits and risks of participating in the study, (b) compensation, (c) confidentiality, (d) contact information to solicit further elaboration on the study, and participant rights. I provided the informed consent forms to participants via e-mail. The participants replied *I consent* to the e-mail with the attached informed consent form.

I informed research participants that they were free to discontinue participation in the study via e-mail and telephone. Gibson et al. (2013); Morse and Coulehan (2014); and Zhou and Nunes (2013) discussed topics such as compensation methods, ways of contacting participants, and participants' right to withdraw from research. I did not compensate research participants for taking part in the study.

To assure adequate ethical protection of participants, I adhered to the Belmont protocol for conducting the research. According to Zucker (2014), the Belmont report covers three primary ethical principles to use when conducting research: (a) autonomy, where the participant reserves the right to participate or not participate in the study; (b) beneficence, where the researcher minimizes risk or harm to participants; and (c) justice, where participants who participate in the research will likely benefit from the research. The Belmont report also serves as a guide to IRB deliberations to ensure researchers conduct ethical research (Honig, Lampel, Siegel, & Drnevich, 2014). I determined where to conduct the research, chose the qualified participants from the list I was provided, and permission from the research sites after I received authorization from IRB. I stored digital data on a computer with a password and nondigital data in a bank safe, where it will be kept for a minimum of 5 years before shredding nondigital artifacts and deleting electronic files. Before commencement of data collection, I also obtained approval from Walden University's IRB and included the Walden University IRB approval number <u>01-13-17-0243729</u> on the final doctoral manuscript.

To ensure privacy, anonymity, confidence and trust, researchers use pseudonyms to identify participants and businesses during research (Gibson et al., 2013; Morse & Coulehan, 2014; Zhou & Nunes, 2013). I used pseudonyms such as BUS1 and BUS2 to reference the two businesses and BUS1 PT1 through PT5 to reference participants of the first business, and BUS2 PT1 through PT5 to reference participants of the second business in the study. I interviewed five participants from each small business, which was a total of 10 participants for this study. The name of participants were withheld from documentation relating to the study.

Data Collection Instruments

The researcher is the primary data collection tool in research because the researcher visualizes, hears and interprets the data (Denzin, 2014; Holmes, 2014; Marshall & Rossman, 2015). Researchers use semistructured interviews as an operative instrument during the data collection phase (Denzin, 2014; Holmes, 2014; Manning & Kunkel, 2014). I was the primary data collection instrument in this study because I was

able to observe, hear and interpret data first-hand. With the use of open-ended interview questions, my aim was to obtain direct information from business managers and supervisors of small businesses who used strategies for integrating technological innovations. Participants are able to provide detail explanations when responding to open-ended questions (Manning & Kunkel, 2014). I provided a list of open-ended questions for the semistructured interviews.

Researchers use company or archival documents as an instrument for collecting data (Behr, 2014; Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Smith, 2016). I used business documents as an additional data collection instrument for this study. Using a corporate document such as the financial scorecard report, I was able to examine past trends, and gained greater insight into how the strategies business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses impacted profitability.

To enhance reliability and validity, researchers use member checking and triangulation (Anyan, 2013; Behr, 2014; Fan, 2013). I addressed reliability and validity by identifying and recording recurrent themes, and used member checking follow up interviews after the semistructured interviews. I used triangulation of multiple data collection methods by comparing information from the financial scorecard report, interviews, and interpreting the participants' reactions and voice intonations towards the interview questions during data analysis.

Data Collection Technique

Researchers use data collection techniques to systematically collect information about the subject of the research (Yin, 2014). Researchers use a data collection technique contingent on the research design approach of a study (Kornbluh, 2015; Morse & Coulehan, 2014; Smith, 2016). According to Harvey (2014), Kornbluh (2015), and Yin (2014), researchers use data collection techniques such as (a) observations, (b) interviews, (c) written questions, (d) using archival information, and (f) focus groups to obtain triangulation. Zhou and Nunes (2013) argued semistructured interviews are an excellent way for a researcher to concentrate on specific details addressing the research question. I used semistructured interviews to find out strategies business managers and supervisors used to integrate technological innovations in small businesses. I conducted interviews to obtain in-depth information about the participant's perceptions, feelings, and opinions relating the research topic. Before the commencement of data collection, I submitted an IRB application to request permission from Walden University IRB to conduct the study, and obtained written authorization in the form of a letter of cooperation, from the actual research sites for approval to carry out the study. After IRB approval, I e-mailed the invitation letter and informed consent forms to participants. The invitation letter contained a synopsis of the purpose of the study along with the informed consent form to finalize willingness to participate in the study. The invitation letter and informed consent form were combined. Participants indicated their willingness to participate in the study by replying *I consent* to the e-mail with the attached informed consent form. With the use of open-ended semistructured interview questions, I had the advantage of (a) obtaining in-depth information about the participant, (b) asking questions in detail, (c) obtaining more thorough responses from participants, and (d) recording the responses to research questions. Using interviews in research may also have disadvantages (Harvey, 2014; Holmes, 2014; Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). Participants may tailor responses to interview questions based on their comfort level with the interviewer or may provide more information in response to the interview questions via observation (Harvey, 2014; Leedy & Ormrod, 2013; Morse & Coulehan, 2014). At the beginning of the interview, I sensed some of the participants were nervous, however, because of the way I reacted to their response of the first question, the participants eventually became comfortable and divulged more information than I anticipated. On an average, the interviews lasted 30 minutes. The longest interview was for a duration of 43 minutes. The interviews were slated to last for a maximum of one hour.

Researchers use member checking to help improve the credibility, validity, accuracy, and applicability of research by providing an opportunity for participants to confirm data captures the accurate meaning and word choice of participants (Harvey, 2014; Houghton et al., 2013; Leedy & Ormrod, 2013; Nyhan, 2015). I conducted member checking within 24 hours after the interviews by providing participants with a succinct one paragraph synthesis of my interpretation to the responses to the interview questions and asking participants to verify if my interpretation reflects the actual participant interview responses. I noticed some participants added new information, however, I excluded the new information because the new information was not part of the original recording. Observing participants during interviews will provide a researcher the ability to gain more indepth context related information (Morse, 2015; Kornbluh, 2015; Morse & Coulehan, 2014; Smith, 2016). Being able to see the participant's body language via the telepresence, I was able to gain additional information, which did not emerge during the interview. I also had the ability to interpret how the participant felt about a particular question based on their voice modulation. I made notes of the participant's facial expressions, voice intonations, and body movements and gained an accurate picture of responses during the interviews. The use of observations may create an avenue for ethical issues relating to confidentiality, privacy or researcher bias (Kornbluh, 2015; Morse & Coulehan, 2014; Smith, 2016).

Audio recorded interviews are accurate and can be used to revisit responses to interview questions (Heale & Forbes, 2013; Morse, 2015; Morse & Coulehan, 2014). Initially, I opted to use freeconferencecall to conduct the interviews, however, after I downloaded the app on my computer, I discovered I would have to pay for the calls because St. Lucia was not on the approved list of available islands for which the app can be used. Instead, I used skype to conduct the interviews, audio record, then examined the responses. Using that technique, I was able to see the participants and record the interviews. Researchers use methodological triangulation to obtain various perspectives of participants during a research (Harvey, 2014; Heale & Forbes, 2013; Kornbluh, 2015; Yin, 2014). By using interviews, observing the research participants body language and voice intonations, along with comparing the contents of the financial scorecard report, I was able to obtain multiple perspectives from research participants to achieve methodological triangulation.

The use of company documents proved to be very informative and interesting. I was able to get a visual on past trends and how the business performed for the fiscal year in relation to customer impact, financial management, internal processes, and learning and growth. The business document provided great insight into the performance of the business and the business objective that drove the use of particular strategies used for integrating technological innovations in the business to achieve profitability. A pilot study is a crucial element of a good study design (Morin, 2013; Shader, 2015). Researchers use pilot studies to determine the feasibility of the main study. Conducting a pilot study does not guarantee the success of the main study (Shader, 2015). I did not use a pilot study for the research.

To reach data saturation, the interviewing process included 10 business managers and supervisors who used strategies for integrating technological innovations in small businesses in St. Lucia. I reached data saturation using techniques from Kornbluh (2015), Morse (2015) and Smith (2016) where I asked probing questions where necessary and when themes from data became similar, and no new ideas existed after the 4th participant in BUS1 and the 3rd participant in BUS2, I knew I had reached data saturation. As previously indicated, after determining who the 10 research participants were, I provided the participants with an interview schedule from which the participants indicated a convenient time for me to conduct the interviews. I conducted the interviews after normal working hours, which made the process easier and more convenient for the participants. The participants had sufficient time to prepare for the interview and were able to respond freely to the interview questions.

Data Organization Technique

To document the ideas that emerged from the participants' responses from every interview question, I used Skype to conduct the interviews, audio record, then examined the responses. Researchers use NVivo 11 software to analyze data in research (Sarma, 2015; Woods, Paulus, Atkins, & Macklin, 2015; Yahmady, Hilal, & Al Abri, 2013). I used NVivo 11 software to upload the data from Microsoft excel and analyze data. A simplistic form of organizing data is a digital filing system. I created folders to represent different themes with the respective alphanumeric codes to protect the participants' privacy. I placed documents relating to each participant in individual folders and stored them in a password-protected directory on my computer requiring user authentication, and stored nondigital transcripts in a bank safe for a minimum of 5 years.

Data Analysis

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. The overarching research question for this study was, What strategies do business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses? In this research, I analyzed data relating to facts, opinions and behaviors of individuals in a social context.

Qualitative research scholars conduct methodological triangulation by collecting and analyzing data from multiple sources such as interviews and observations (Heale & Forbes, 2013; Manganelli, et al., 2014; Yin, 2014). I ensured methodological triangulation by using interviews, observation, audio recording, and company documents for data collection. Qualitative researchers use coding to conceal the identities of research participants (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014; Emmel, 2015; Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013). Researchers who conduct qualitative studies also use coding to reinforce the reliability and validity of data analysis (Stuckey, 2015; Munn, Porritt, Lockwood, Aromataris, & Pearson, 2014; Yin, 2014). First, during data analysis, I used coding to safeguard the identity of businesses and participants, and to identify major themes emerging from the interview process. I used pseudonyms such as BUS1, BUS2, to reference businesses and BUS1PT1 through PT5 to represent participants of the first business. I repeated the same process for BUS2 and labeled BUS2 PT1 through PT5 to identify participants from the second business. I interviewed a total of 10 participants.

The second step during data analysis was to transcribe data collected via recording and journaling. Some qualitative researchers use Microsoft Excel to analyze and transcribe data from research (Nassaji, 2015; Plamondon, Bottorff, & Cole, 2015; Stuckey, 2015). Other researchers use NVivo to sort, group and arrange data during the data analysis process (Thiem, 2015; Wood, Gnonhosou, & Bowling, 2015; Woods, Paulus, Atkins, & Macklin, 2015). I transcribed digital data into Microsoft Excel. I used NVivo 11 software to group, sort, and arrange information and identified relevant themes from the written research log.

I initiated the third step of the data analysis process by examining the emerging themes from both digital and written data for consistency, and identifying key themes highlighting important aspects relating to the overall purpose of the research question. I correlated key themes with the literature (including new studies published since writing the proposal) and the conceptual framework of diffusion of innovation and disruptive innovation. I analyzed the data to associate the emerging themes with the elements of diffusion of innovation and disruptive innovation. In qualitative research, researchers use member checking to help improve the credibility, validity, accuracy, and applicability of research by providing an opportunity for participants to confirm data collected captures the accurate meaning and word choice of participants (Harvey, 2014; Holmes, 2014; Houghton et al., 2013; Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). I conducted member checking by providing participants with the interview transcripts and asking participants to verify if my interpretation reflects the actual participant interview responses.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability and validity are two vital components of research to consider during the process of designing, analyzing, and judging the quality of the study (Foley & O'Conner, 2013; Mangioni & McKerchar, 2013; Mannay, 2013). Qualitative researchers must avoid bias during research, and as such, conduct data quality validation and reliability tests (Noble & Smith, 2015; Tuck & McKenzie, 2015; Woolcock, 2013). Reliability in qualitative research refers to consistency in the research outcome, and the extent to which the research will have the same or similar results if replicated (Liang & Chia, 2014; Noble & Smith, 2015; Woolcock, 2013). Researchers who conduct qualitative research confirm reliability by: (a) recording the entire data collection and interpretation process, (b) detailing the research strategy, (c) explaining participant selection, (d) and highlighting the role, which the researcher holds in the research process (Houghton et al., 2013). **Dependability.** Dependability refers to maintaining consistency during the research process (Bridges-Rhoads, 2015; Drisko, 2016; Munn et al., 2014). To guarantee dependability for this study, I kept an audit trail by documenting the order of the data analysis, organization, and process. Researchers use peer examinations, triangulation, dependability audit and code-recode procedure to ensure dependability of data (Houghton et al., 2013; Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). To further ensure dependability, I avoided inaccuracies when conceptualizing the study, collecting the data, and reporting the findings. To avoid inaccuracies, I used member checking approach to conduct participant data validation. I replicated and transcribed participants' interviews verbatim, paraphrased where necessary, and used NVivo 11 software to analyze and code data from participants.

Validity

Validity in qualitative research involves determining the extent to which the claim set by the researcher equates to the reality of the study (Drisko, 2016; Nyhan, 2015; Wilson, 2014). To validate research, researchers conduct creditability, transferability, and confirmability tests (Noble & Smith, 2015). Additionally, researchers conduct member checking to evaluate trustworthiness, rigor, and discipline of research through a series of applicability, consistency, and neutrality tests (Nyhan, 2015; Srivastava & Misra, 2014; Woolcock, 2013). I validated the results of the study by conducting applicability, consistency and neutrality tests.

Creditability. Researchers perform creditability tests to ensure research findings are believable and trust worthy (Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Drisko, 2016; Woolcock,
2013). Researchers conduct negative case analysis, perform iterative questioning, triangulation, and peer scrutiny, to identify and record recurrent features forming themes, patterns, and provide value to qualitative research, as a means of establishing creditability (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). I identified and recorded recurrent themes by asking iterative questions, triangulation, and peer scrutiny as suggested by the above researchers, to ensure validity and creditability during the research process.

Researchers conduct member checking by interviewing and disseminating research findings and interpretations to participants for validation (Drisko, 2016). Similarly, I demonstrated member checking after interviewing 10 business managers and supervisors and provided the research participants with the interpretation for validation. Using open-ended semistructured questions, I gave participants flexibility to produce indepth information regarding strategies for integrating technological innovations in the business. Researchers use triangulation for enhancing the quality of research (Heale & Forbes, 2013; Kornbluh, 2015; Wilson, 2014). I used triangulation to cross check the data from the research and to confirm all aspects of the research question thoroughly.

Transferability. Transferability refers to the extent to which a research is applicable in other contexts or environments (Drisko, 2016; Mannay, 2013; Noble & Smith, 2015). Arnold (2016) substantiated the use of purposeful sampling to explore strategies for reducing high turnover among information technology professionals. Researchers also use purposive sampling to access a specific subset of individuals who fit a particular profile (Newman, Lim & Pineda, 2013; Robinson, 2014). To maintain transferability, I used purposeful criterion sampling and reflective commentary to reevaluate the study as it developed.

Confirmability. Confirmability refers to how accurately the quality of the research results measure against research researcher bias (Drisko, 2016; Noble & Smith, 2015; Yin, 2013). To establish confirmability, Arnold (2016) documented the research procedures. Researchers also use reflexivity to reveal personal biases affecting a research (Arnold, 2016; Drisko, 2016). In a similar manner, I used a research log to record the progression of research events.

Data Saturation. Researchers reach data saturation when themes from data become similar and no new ideas emerge (Kornbluh, 2015; Morse, 2015; Smith, 2016). I reached data saturation after interviewing the 4th participant from BUS1 and the 3rd participant from BUS2. I interviewed 10 business managers and supervisors who use strategies for integrating technological innovations in small businesses in St. Lucia, and when themes from data became similar and no new ideas emerged, I became aware I had reached data saturation. I provided 10 participants with an interview schedule from which the participants agreed the interviews could be conducted.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 of this study included information on the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection technique, data business techniques, data analysis, and reliability and validity. Section 2 of this study also contained the rationalizations for choosing to use the qualitative exploratory multiple case study design, purposive sampling technique, and semistructured open-ended interview questions. Section 3, contains the research findings, the application to professional practice, the implications for social change, recommendations for action and future research, reflections, and a conclusion. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this qualitative exploratory multiple case study was to explore the strategies business leaders use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. From the interviews with business managers and supervisors of two small businesses in St. Lucia, I identified one overarching theme and seven subthemes. The overarching theme was collaboration, planning, and guidance. The seven subthemes included integration challenges, technology cost, effective use of technology, profitability, training, flexibility in work schedule, and remaining up-to-date with technology. Results from this study confirm that collaboration, planning, and guidance is the most common element from the data collected. Section 3 includes presentation of my findings, discussion of applications for professional practice and implications for social change, recommendations for action and future research, my reflections, and a conclusion to the study.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question of this study was, What strategies do business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. One overarching theme (collaboration, planning, and guidance) and seven subthemes emerged from analysis of interview responses and business documents.

Overarching Theme: Collaboration, Planning, and Communication

Collaboration, planning, and communication was the primary theme, which emerged from the interviews with business managers and supervisors. In their responses to Interview Questions 1, 2, 3, and 5, PT1 through PT5 from BUS1, indicated the collaboration, planning, and communication among key players from all operational departments was necessary for business managers and supervisors to successfully acquire and integrate the technological innovation. Participants said they needed to conduct thorough planning for the new technological innovation. Nambisan (2013) asserted a business's ability to cultivate and contribute to new firm competence is dependent on management's level of collaboration, planning, and communication with a technical committee central to the business. The level of planning, communication, and collaboration among key players should center on the business's innovation strategies as this is central to the success of any technological innovation (Ganter & Hecker, 2013). Planning includes determining *why* and *how* the integration of technological innovation can enhance business processes and profitability. Having this knowledge may aid business managers and supervisors in developing strategies and objectives to gain positive results.

The success of a technical committee is dependent on the knowledge and experience of individuals and their interaction with the new innovation. All participants from BUS1 indicated, during the planning phase, a technical committee was formed to analyze the new procurement; however, key players were absent from the committee and the decision making process. The participants of BUS1 also indicated this was the sole strategy put in place to embark on the new acquisition and technological integration. A study by Arora and Mithas (2015) indicated the overall strategy of a business is to develop innovation aptitude, measure the innovation, facilitate the innovation, and foster a recognition and reward mechanism for innovation. Using technological innovation within the business may increase organizational performance and decrease transaction related costs of doing business.

BUS2 PT4 indicated the absence of a technology implementation plan and the decision makers assessing the new technology in the participant's organization were not knowledgeable of all the business processes. PT1, PT2, and PT5 from BUS2 reported that the planning involved two presentations by the software company, which was attended by select members of management. PT2 said, "some of the individuals who attended the presentation had nothing to do with the new technology." Purna (2013) asserted a technology implementation plan is a crucial element for business leaders when implementing new technology to improve business performance and profitability. As the landscape of business and technology changes, business managers and supervisors should ensure the technology which they acquire is adequate to meet the daily demands of the business.

Govindarajan and Ramamurti (2014) stated, to enable the successful implementation of technological innovation in a business, all members of a team must understand the business model and business objectives. Abdallah, Phan, and Matsui (2016) asserted, before any new implementation, thorough planning is required to minimize issues such as lack of technology synchronization. For a business to attain profitability, the business should have an increase in productivity and a reduction in cost (Azarenkova, Golovko, & Ponomarenko, 2015. An increase in productivity may yield business growth and cash flow increase. Other researchers have found that both internal and external implementations of successful technological innovations are generally associated with proper planning, collaboration, communication, quality, and proper budgeting (Maryska & Doucek, 2015). The literature in Section 1 relating to communication, diffusion of innovation, and successful integration of technological innovations, coincide with the overarching theme that emerged from the data collected in this research. The inclusion of key stakeholders in the decision making process of a business is vital in achieving business success.

Subtheme 1: Integration Challenges

In response to Interview Question 5 concerning the challenges participants experienced using the strategies for integrating technological innovations, all participants said the integration of the technological innovation was very complex and time consuming. All the participants from BUS1 reported, although their business had a team of individuals from various departments to analyze software before acquiring it, the software was not fully integrated. For instance, BUS1 PT1 explained,

after releasing the integration, key individuals from numerous departments could not perform needed tasks, and the business sourced and purchased other software from another vendor to make up for the inefficiencies of the previous technological integration.

BUS1 PT2, PT4, PT5, stated unanimously, the performance of the new technological integration was overrated because individuals had to perform some key job duties manually alongside the new integration. BUS1 PT2, PT3, and PT4 reported users were unable to use several features of the new technology as the features did not apply to

the business. BUS2 PT3, PT4, and PT5 echoed the experiences of BUS1 as they stated the new technology did not synchronize with the old technology which caused ongoing issues. Abdallah, Phan, and Matsui (2016) asserted that, before initiating an integration process, leaders need to undertake detailed planning to minimize issues such as technology synchronization problems. Management should ensure individuals undergoing technological change understand the reason for innovation and how it will benefit individuals and the business as a unit.

The other theory used as part of the conceptual framework for this study, disruptive innovation, is consistent with the results of my study. Disruptive innovation is not always complicated (Nagy, Schuessler, & Dubinsky 2016). Disruptive innovation is a form of radical innovation, which involves the use of technologies as a tool to improve products and services. This is done through (a) simplification of processes, (b) userfriendly technology, and (c) less expensive technology appealing to new or lessdemanding customers (Gandhe, 2015). Business managers and supervisors may experience high revenue and low operational costs if they invest in disruptive technology.

Confirmation from the literature review regarding, failure factors of integrating technological innovations and absence of business model alignment, support the theme of integration challenges. Some small businesses fail at integrating technological innovation because of a lack of appropriate resources, technical aptitude, and the absence of internal strategies (Bala Subrahmanya, 2015). Business managers and supervisors may experience integration issues due to a lack of standards in the business practices.

Subtheme 2: Technology Cost

The second subtheme within this study was technology cost. All participants were primarily concerned with the budget to procure software, hardware, perform upgrades, and sustenance the overall disruptive innovation. Findings of other studies confirmed the results of my study by indicating both internal and external implementations of successful technological innovations are generally associated with quality and cost performance (Maryska & Doucek, 2015). Businesses need disruptive innovation to revitalize products, services and to also gain a competitive advantage, and improve profitability (Ryan, 2013). BUS1, PT1, stated,

too much of the budget was spent on implementation and the business had to increase the initial budget to accommodate the procurement of hardware, upgrades, and long term maintenance.

Kinuthia and Chung (2017), asserted imprecise budget or poor investment decisions can cause drastic financial consequences for small businesses, and may result in integration failure or bankruptcy, confirms the findings of this study. However, the opinion of Hungund and Kiran (2017) that cost is not a major factor hindering the integration of technological innovation in small businesses failed to confirm the results of my study. Business managers who have no budgetary constraints are better positioned to accomplish a successful technological integration (Bowen, Chen, Eraslan, & Zapal, 2017). BUS2 PT1 through PT5 stated the business experienced cost overruns because the applications in various departments were not coordinated and as a result, the business purchased another software from another vendor to perform the functions the previous technological integration could not accomplish.

Disruptive innovation, part of the conceptual framework for this study, matched the results of this study. Disruptive innovation provides opportunities; however, if not cautious when implementing, the innovation may result in unanticipated risks, which may affect cost and revenue (Lui, Ngai, & Lo, 2015). According to Gandhe (2015), disruptive innovation is a form of radical innovation that (a) simplifies processes, (b) are userfriendly, and (c) are less expensive technology.

Evidence from the literature review, which discussed technological innovation strategies for profitability and competitive advantage was supportive of the technology cost theme. A firm's business processes and financial performance are determinants of the overall performance and profitability of a company (Chairoel, Widyarto, & Pujani, 2015). Ultimate operational performance is achieved when productivity increases and cost diminishes (Azarenkova, Golovko, & Ponomarenko, 2015).

Subtheme 3: Effective use of Technology

The subtheme, effective use of technology relates to Interview Question 5. All of the participants from BUS1 noted "the new technology either hangs or crashes when users attempt to utilize the system simultaneously." Also, BUS1 PT1 declared "for most persons the system sometimes has delays in opening the main program as well as other areas within the program." BUS1 PT1 continued to note that "there are times the program just closes and the user may need to reopen it." PT1 also said, "it took a few years for the business to turn a profit because after all the glitches were corrected and streamlined then the business saw the efficiency of the software that they acquired."

Participants from BUS2 stated that the current technological innovation which was in place for approximately six years was not fully utilized by employees because "employees perform payment transactions manually as the system is not setup to process electronic payment transactions." BUS2 PT1, PT2, PT3 and PT4 reported, the new technology did not provide real time data. PT4 explained that users from one department who performed tasks that should be synchronized with other tasks from other departments, resorted to completing one transaction utilizing several methods, which included sending hard copy documents to other departments to be completed on another part on the system. PT4 also said, users experienced latency while accomplishing tasks. Rogers (2015) reference to relative advantage includes innovation that introduces improvements. Better technology may result in higher productivity, which may lead to higher profitability.

Disruptive innovation, and diffusion of innovation formed the conceptual framework for this study and anchored the study results. A comparison of Roger's seminal work on innovation diffusion behavior with Hofstede's culture dimensions on individualism/collectivism and uncertainty avoidance revealed cultural dimensions influence the rate at which diffusion occurs (Desmarchelier & Fang, 2016). Disruptive innovation presents opportunities, however, unexpected threats may surface, which may affect profitability and productivity (Lui, Ngai, & Lo, 2015). According to Gandhe (2015), disruptive innovation is known to simplify processes using user-friendly and less expensive technology. The need for easy to use technology follows Rogers (2015) diffusion of innovation theory about the technology ease of use and users' perception of the technology. Diffusion of innovation occurs among individuals of the same mindset who are at the same level of understanding about the innovation (Uchida, 2015). This level of communication is key for a business to integrate technological innovations successfully.

Studies discussed in the literature review regarding successful innovation strategies in business, were supportive of the effective use of technology theme. Business process and financial performance are key determinants of a business's overall performance (Chairoel, Widyarto, & Pujani, 2015). Business managers and supervisors constantly seek the most effective methods and efficient systems at a reasonable cost and value, to improve efficiency and performance (Allen & Johnson, 2017). For a business to accomplish operational performance, the business should have an increase in productivity and a reduction in cost (Azarenkova, Golovko, & Ponomarenko, 2015).

Subtheme 4: Profitability

The subtheme, profitability, emerged from Interview Question 4, when the participants were asked, How do you measure the effect of using the strategies for integrating technological innovations on the business in terms of profitability? Vargas (2015) asserted, during the phases of the innovation cycle, businesses may amass specific innovation competencies to grapple with managing emerging change challenges, which may inhibit the business's potential to attain a high level of efficiency and profitability. The response from BUS1 PT3 stated,

periodically we carry out business process review to determine whether our processes are in line with our business corporate strategy. In areas where improvements are required, we do a thorough analysis to determine whether technological integration can assist in improving the process to bring about increased profitability. From the last technological integration, although we had major issues, profitability has increased. In many cases there are technology that can assist and in such cases we develop a budget to drive the improvement that we deem necessary.

All of the participants from BUS1 noted the business used the system for a number of years before realizing a profit. BUS2 PT1 endorsed the sentiments of PT3 from Bus1 by reporting that,

after all the glitches were corrected and streamlined then the business saw the efficiency of the software that they acquired. It improved profitability because for the past 4 or 5 years, the profitability margin has been going up. Currently, the business has a profit margin of approximately 123% for the fiscal year.

Disruptive innovation, and diffusion of innovation formed the conceptual framework for this study and endorsed the study results on profitability. Disruptive innovation presents opportunities, however, unanticipated risks may emerge if not cautiously implemented, and may affect the business's profitability (Lui, Ngai, & Lo, 2015). According to Gandhe (2015), disruptive innovation is a form of radical innovation that (a) simplifies processes, (b) are user-friendly, and (c) are less expensive technology. Diffusion of innovation also resonated with the results of the study. Diffusion is more likely to occur when individuals have the same level of understanding about the innovation (Uchida, 2015).

Studies from the literature review, which discussed technological innovation strategies for profitability and competitive advantage. Those topics were in direct relation to the profitability theme. Chairoel, Widyarto and Pujani (2015) anchored this study indicating a firm's business processes and financial performance are determinants of the overall performance and profitability of a business.

Subtheme 5: Training

Training emerged from Interview Question 1. Matching human resource skills to the technology may be very costly if the users were not included in the implementation process. Responses from all participants from BUS1 indicated business managers and supervisors utilized individuals from the software company to perform a two month training, which cost the business unanticipated budgetary constraints. BUS1, PT2, PT3, and PT4 said, business leaders provided training opportunities for employees before the system was fully integrated. Participants also noted a select group of individuals were trained, then the trained individuals were required to conduct in house training for the remaining users. Lee, Kim and Shin (2017), advised, business leaders to fill the knowledge gap by engaging with external experts and receiving assistance from technology vendors during a technology integration. According to Guisado-Gonzalez, Vila-Alonso and Guisado-Tato (2016), training may have a profound influence on a business's overall performance. The results of this study were endorsed by (Dwomoh, 2015) who indicated business leaders should invest heavily in training and provide exposure to technology that may aid in the successful implementation of technological innovations, and improve the business's operative challenges. Business leaders should be committed to building a work environment that supports learning and continuous transition to a new technology as users have a drastic influence on adoption and successful integration of new technology (Narasimha Murthy & Kumar, 2015). However, all of the participants from BUS2, indicated, although business leaders provided training opportunities for users to utilize the new technology, the training was not timely. The participants from BUS2 also noted unanimously that training was not a priority for the business as business leaders focused primarily on getting the new system in place, and as a result, some of the users became frustrated with the new integration.

The conceptual framework for this study was built on (Christensen, 2013) disruptive innovation and (Rogers, 2015) diffusion of innovation theory. Business managers and supervisors may use the knowledge of disruptive innovation to identify innovation techniques, assess the business's capabilities for integrating technological innovation successfully, and avoid the challenges of adoption, acceptance, and assimilation of innovation within the business (Daidj, 2015). Technological innovation may promote diversity and inclusion. Business managers and supervisors should prepare the business to respond to disruptive innovation by ensuring the business model captures the value of disruptive technology that may produce new metrics for the business (Narasimha & Vijaya, 2015). New ideas open up opportunities for new direction and

better business value (Aytekin, et al., 2015). Diffusion theory refers to the spread of new approaches, objectives, or ideas the user may or may not accept or adopt the innovation. The tendency for a user to accept or adopt innovation is usually based on the user's organizational culture, characteristics of the particular innovation, or the indirect messages conveyed to the users by management (McMullen, Griffiths, Leber, & Greenhalgh, 2015). Diffusion is more likely to occur when individuals have the same level of understanding about the innovation (Uchida, 2015).

Research findings from the literature review, which discussed training, was supportive of the training theme that emerged from the study. The integration of technological innovations require specific technology skills. Studies by Bokhonko (2017) confirmed, changes in technology requires the replacement of obsolete skills with new skills, as current skills may no longer apply to the new technology. Business managers and supervisors may amplify the awareness of users experiencing the change of new technology through improved education and adequate training.

The human element of change is critical to succeed at technological innovation integration. Before change occurs, business managers and supervisors should make certain change recipients understand why the change occurred and how stakeholders may benefit from the change. To manage change, business managers and supervisors may incorporate sound change management strategies involving every layer of the business. The change management strategies may include conveying to change recipients, how the new technology fits into the current environment and explanations and specific training as it relates to new functionalities of the innovation (Slater, Evans, & Turner, 2015). According to Guisado-Gonzalez, Vila-Alonso and Guisado-Tato (2016), training is an important aspect of integrating new technology in a business. Training may be rewarding if it is relevant to everyone who has to use the new technological innovation.

Subtheme 6: Flexibility in Work Schedule

During the interview, the subtheme, flexibility in work schedule emerged from Interview Question 7. All of the participants noted the business should incorporate flexi time or the ability to work remotely. For instance, BUS1 PT1 said,

some technological advances allow for work to be perform effectively out of the work site and therefore enables the introduction of flexi time which help improve morale, by allowing in some cases, mothers or fathers to work from home when there is a need for parenting care in the home.

PT1 also said, the business should have a Virtual Private Network (VPN) to allow employees flexibility in the work schedule, to avoid working late hours on the work site. Lozano, Hamplova and Le Bourdais (2016) discovered that business managers and supervisors who provide employees flexi time may observe an increase in productivity and employees may extract more intrinsic value from their jobs. Flexibility in work schedules may assist employees in balancing their personal and work life. A flexible work schedule may also allow employees to participate is social activities such as volunteering in the community (Lozano, et al.). BUS1 PT1, PT2, and PT3 indicated flexibility in work schedule may provide avenues for parents to attend their children's school functions or attend to a sick child. PT4 also stated, work from home be instituted in the business because this may allow employees to perform their jobs uninterrupted and employees may be more productive. PT1 through PT5 of BUS2 also suggested a work from home program and indicated employees may be more productive, as the program may help improve business performance. The participants also noted, a work from home program may help the business reduce operating cost such as space and solve other staffing issues.

However, findings from other research dismiss some of the participants' suggestions relating to flexibility in work schedules or working remotely to improve productivity. A study by Wadsworth and Facer, (2016), revealed working remotely or telecommuting has disadvantages. Some employees may become withdrawn from the business or immediate work counterparts. Wadsworth and Facer also indicated, the absence or infrequency of face to face interaction with direct managers may affect opportunities for future advancement. A flexible work schedule may have adverse effects on team-building and knowledge sharing, and may affect the proper execution of Rogers, 2015, diffusion of innovation theory.

Subtheme 7: Remaining Up-To-Date with Technology

The subtheme remaining up-to-date with technology emerged from Interview Question 6. Using the internet to keep abreast with technology was a common denominator among the participants from both of the businesses. The participants from BUS1 added they also conduct research from most recent trade journals and magazines, for which the business has yearly subscriptions. BUS2 PT3 indicated, "we usually go online and visit different sites that discuss technology trends and we assess the technology that relate to our business." Other participants from BUS2 stated they keep informed on technology trends by either observing how other businesses of similar background are doing regarding technology use, or receive fresh insight from news channels.

Prior research findings from the literature review in section1 discussed common technology trends. Business managers and supervisors were advised against acquiring technology simply because it is new and trending. To remain buoyant, business managers and supervisors must invest in sound strategies that will help achieve the objective of the business. According to Bokhonko, 2017, several business managers and supervisors are motivated to integrate technological innovations because businesses from similar industries implemented the technology. Bokhonko opined against such practice, as this may lead to technological integration failure.

Applications to Professional Practice

The strategies highlighted in this study for integrating technological innovation might help business managers and supervisors improve profitability across any small business. The objective of the study was to explore the strategies business managers and supervisors used for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. Findings of the study were valuable to business leaders and other community partners seeking to understand and use strategies for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. The results of the study may also help business leaders and managers gain a better understanding of business practices, which may help them detect why some strategies for integrating technological innovations if the intention is to improve profitability in small businesses. Business leaders can incorporate strategies relating to collaboration, planning and guidance to achieve business objectives (Persichitte, 2016). The creation of a technical committee for integrating technological innovations identified by participants of BUS1, was necessary for integrating new technology successfully. Lindgren and Munch (2016) suggested, user involvement is one of the most important elements of successful implementation. Silban (2016) urged business leaders assign the best people to support technology efforts and not individuals the business can most easily spare. Having a technology committee is key, however, the caliber of individuals that constitute the committee is crucial to the success of any business.

Lee, Kim and Shin (2017), purported a technology opportunity should be viewed and interpreted as a research and development (R&D) plan before considering implementation. Business managers and supervisors should be knowledgeable of various types of technology, and how the technology opportunity may add value for the business (Lee, et al.). Prior research on technological innovation integration revealed the motivation of many businesses to integrate technological innovations is because businesses from similar industries implemented the technology (Bokhonko, 2017). Bokhonko counseled against this approach as lack of definition or strategy of adopting the new technology may lead to financial ruin. Business managers and supervisors may incorporate proper strategic planning for achieving overall business success.

Training was another subtheme that emerged from the study. Almost all of the participants expressed concern regarding user training and confirmed previous research by Dwomoh (2015), encouraging business leaders to invest heavily in training and

providing exposure to technology that may aid in the successful implementation of technological innovations, thereby improving the business's operational issues. Narasimha, Murthy and Kumar (2015) indicated business leaders should be committed in cultivating a work environment that supports learning and seamless transition to a new system because users have an effect on adoption and successful integration of new technology.

Technology cost was another subtheme that surfaced from the results of this study. Kinuthia and Chung (2017), purported inaccurate budget or poor judgement during investments could effect radical financial consequences for small businesses. The consequences may range from integration failure to bankruptcy. Viloria (2016) asserted, technological innovation investments are affected immensely by their strategic context relating to cost reduction versus benefit of valuable strategies. Bowen, Chen, Eraslan and Zapal (2017) added, business leaders who have no budgetary constraints are better positioned to accomplish a successful technological integration. Allen and Johnson (2017) discussed business leaders constantly seeking the most effective methods and efficient systems at a reasonable cost and value to improve efficiency and performance.

Effective use of technology and profitability were other elements, which developed from the study results. BUS1 PT1 noted "choosing the right technology for the business can be very challenging". Technology is a salient proponent for growth in many businesses. Users interact with technology on a daily basis to accomplish tasks. Gottlieb, Chan, Sherbino and Yarris (2017) asserted, using technology with functionality issues or technology that does not meet the demands of the business, makes it difficult for users to be productive, be invested or increase their output. Proper integration of technology eradicates negative nuances and may provide for an environment of growth and profitability. Maiga (2017) purported that profitability is dependent on the efficacy of technology on the business. Strategically, technological innovations are integrated into small businesses to achieve pre-set business objectives and profitability.

Implications for Social Change

The results of the study contribute to social change by providing additional information on strategies for integrating technological innovations in small businesses. Business managers and supervisors may gain a deeper understanding of the systematic and strategic processes involved in acquiring, sustaining, and integrating technological innovations to improve profitability. The findings of the study also provided innovative solutions to minimize the cost of doing business, and develop a standard for better business practice, which may foster healthier decisions that would drive education and employment for the youth of the community, which may positively influence the crime rate plaguing members of society.

Recommendations for Action

Findings and recommendations from this study may apply to any business manager and supervisor considering strategies for integrating technological innovations in the business to improve profitability. The adoption of effective technological innovation strategies may help business managers and supervisors use profound and structured techniques to integrate technological innovations for improving profitability. The findings of this study may interest all individuals involved from the procurement stage to maintenance stage of the technological integration process.

As a standard for better business practice, business managers and supervisors of small businesses should create defined processes and methodologies to identify and assess their technology maturity for determining technology readiness. Drawing from the suggestions of Toro-Jarrín, Ponce-Jaramillo and Güemes-Castorena (2016), the identification of requirements, prioritization of innovative solutions, and effective management of the integration of new technologies are critical elements to consider when creating defined processes and methodologies. Specific examples of these processes may include realistic information technology budgeting, vendor selection, project management, portfolio management, and risk reviews (Toro-Jarrin, et al.).

Management should ensure the most talented and devoted individuals are assigned to the technical committee for analyzing the new technology. The individuals who form the technical committee should be invested in the business's objectives. All assumptions about how the functionalities of the proposed technology connect with the business model and processes should be addressed in the planning phase. The following are other recommendations for action business leaders can use as a precursor to integrating technological innovations:

 Treat the integration of any technological innovation as a project with a beginning and end date.

- Install a project manager specifically responsible for guiding the integration process. This individual will conduct regular meetings to ensure the project is on track and everyone on the committee is accomplishing their tasks on time.
- 3. Extensive research and development should be conducted before initiating the development of a sound technology implementation plan. According to Lee, et al. (2017), a technology opportunity should be viewed and interpreted as a research and development (R&D) plan before considering implementation. Business managers and supervisors should be knowledgeable of various types of technology, and how the technology opportunity may add value for the business (Lee, et al.).
- 4. Create a technology implementation and backout plan. Be sure to simplify the business processes and objectives. The backout plan will state processes to restore the system should there be any failure. The backup steps should be outlined in the backout plan.
- 5. Ensure your current business model is aligned with the strategic objectives of the business. This will serve as a platform for good business practice.
- 6. Create a risk assessment plan or template. Identify risks of the potential technological integration and provide a risk assessment level or rank for each element of the risk assessment plan. This would include information regarding the firewall, server, network, loadbalancer, storage, application etc.
- 7. Assign the best people to support technology efforts and not individuals the business can most easily spare. Having a technology committee is key,

however, the caliber of individuals that constitute the committee is crucial to the success of any project.

- 8. Ensure all stakeholders are included at the appropriate time for collaboration and communication. The inclusion and various expertise and experiences of all stakeholders possessing a clear understanding of the business processes and objectives, produces faster, less expensive and better results. This way, the potential new technology will get a well-deserved scrutiny.
- Ensure that all collaborators and users are knowledgeable of the new technology, understand the need for the new technology, and are well trained.
- 10. Document the entire technological integration process.

Business managers and supervisors may use the results of this study to transform the approach used by the business community and society towards technological integration. The results of this study might be disseminated via peer reviewed electronic media, literature conferences, and scholarly, professional and business journals. Educators and business consultants may find the results of this study extremely beneficial for conducting training workshops and seminars that relate to strategies for integrating technological innovations in small businesses.

Recommendations for Further Research

While exploring strategies business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in small businesses, I realized more empirical research on technological innovation integration success is needed. One of the limitations of this study was the focus on integrating technological innovations in only small businesses.

Further research should be conducted on integrating technological innovations in all business types, using a comprehensive model specifically for businesses in the context of developing countries. The general measures of successful integration of technological innovation diffusion in small businesses, considering the actual characteristics of businesses in developing countries such as St. Lucia, seems to be lacking. Future research should be focused on the use of various tailored models to assess the effects of technology resources on business performance in small businesses of developing countries.

The second limitation of this study was the use of a small group of 10 business managers and supervisors. Future research can address the limitations of this study to include larger groups from other developing countries in the Caribbean region. Authors such as Robinson (2014) and Royset (2013) with vast knowledge of research asserted, research results vary based on the proportion of the sample size. Therefore, conducting further research on a grander scale regarding strategies for integrating technological innovations in businesses of developing countries would add to the knowledge base of strategies for integrating technological innovations in businesses from developing countries.

Reflections

The objective of this study was to explore strategies business managers and supervisors used for integrating technological innovations in small businesses in St. Lucia. As I reflect on this DBA journey, my approach to the entire process was one of optimism. Regardless of how difficult the task seemed, I fixed my eyes on the end result. Of all the rigors I endured, I thought getting the literature review completed was the most overwhelming. I struggled to get the literature review together because my initial research topic was changed from educational technology to business technology, a topic more aligned with the DBA program. This posed a tremendous setback, and as a result, I became very discouraged. Over time, I recalibrated my efforts and embarked on a new topic to complete the DBA journey. Now that my DBA journey is nearing an end, I look back at the lessons learned from this adventure. I am happy I did not give up. The crude lesson is: not equipping one's self with the right information from the inception of a process can have adverse effects on one's personal life.

Conclusion

Small businesses foster economic growth and create employment in every country (Buchwald, Urbach, & Ahlemann, 2014). The findings of this study revealed business managers and supervisors of small businesses must understand the business and the capabilities of various technology, to make informed decisions when considering integrating technological innovations in the business. Business managers and supervisors must understand fully the nature of the business and use techniques that will cement standards to foster better business practice. Preliminary work such as thorough planning, R&D, business objective alignment should be the precursor for integrating technological innovations to realize a profit. Lee, et al. (2017) advised business leaders to create an

R&D plan, and incorporate a detailed strategic proposal as a guide to acquiring and integrating technological innovations for improving profitability. Business managers and supervisors must utilize strategies that complement the nature of their business and

encourage the use of lessons learned from similar businesses on a global scale. Business managers and supervisors must transform their business processes to align with the business's technological innovations (Srivastava & Misra, 2014). Failing to do so may result in a loss of productivity and revenue for the business, and may further exacerbate social issues such as unemployment and poverty (Kim & Min, 2015).

References

- Aagaard, J., & Matthiesen, N. (2015). Methods of materiality: Participant observation and qualitative research in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 13(1), 1-14. doi:10.1080/14780887.2015.1090510
- Abdallah, A. B., Phan, A. C., & Matsui, Y. (2016). Investigating the effects of managerial and technological innovations on operational performance and customer satisfaction of manufacturing companies. *International Journal of Business Innovation and Research, 10*, 153-158. doi:10.1504/ijbir.2016.074824
- Abolfazli, S., Sanaei, Z., Tabassi, A., Rosen, S., Gani, A., & Khan, S. U. (2015). Cloud adoption in Malaysia: Trends, opportunities, and challenges. *Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Cloud Computing*, 2(1), 60-68.
 doi:10.1109/mcc.2015.1
- Abraham, R., Harris, J., & Auerbach, J. (2015). Disruptive technology as antecedent to CEO pay-performance sensitivity. *Technology and Investment*, *6*, 83-92. doi:10.4236/ti.2015.62009C
- Aeron, P., & Jain, R. (2015). A study on technological capability among product-based telecom start-ups in India: Role of technological learning and bricolage.
 International Journal of Technological Learning, Innovation and Development, 7, 336-340. doi:10.1504/ijtlid.2015.073039
- Aghdaie, M. H., & Alimardani, M. (2015). Target market selection based on market segment evaluation: A multiple attribute decision making approach. *International Journal of Operational Research*, 24, 262-292. doi:10.1504/ijor.2015.072231

- Ahangama, S., & Poo, D. C. C. (2015). Why innovations of capital market IT systems fail to diffuse into the general public? *HCI in Business*, *9191*, 655-666. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-20895-4 61
- Aizstrauta, D., Ginters, E., & Eroles, M.-A. P. (2015). Applying theory of diffusion of innovations to evaluate technology acceptance and sustainability. *Procedia Computer Science*, 43, 69-77. doi:10.1016/j.procs.2014.12.010
- Allen, R. E. S., & Wiles, J. L. (2015). A rose by any other name: Participants choosing research pseudonyms. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 13, 149-165. doi:10.1080/14780887.2015.1133746
- Andersen, S. S., & Dag, V. H. (2013). Knowledge development and transfer in a mindful project-business. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 6, 236-250. doi:10.1108/17538371311319007
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Report*, 18(18), 1-9. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/sss/QR/index.html
- Armstrong, J. (2015). Coordination, triangulation, and language use. *Inquiry*, *59*(1), 80-112. doi:10.1080/0020174x.2015.1115270
- Arnold, L. R. (2016). Strategies for reducing high turnover among information technology professionals (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10107189)

- Arora, R., & Mithas, S. (2015). Lessons from Tata's corporate innovation strategy.
 Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Journals & Magazines, 17(1), 2 6. doi:10.1109/MITP.2015.26
- Atkin, D. J., Hunt, D. S., & Lin, C. A. (2015). Diffusion theory in the new media environment: Toward an integrated technology adoption model. *Mass Communication and Society*, 18, 623-650. doi:10.1080/15205436.2015.1066014
- Aytekin, C., Değerli, A., & Değerli, B. (2015). Analyzing information technology status and networked readiness index in context of diffusion of innovations theory. *Journal of Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 195, 1553-1562. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.06.190
- Azarenkova, G. M., Golovko, O. G., & Ponomarenko, V. A. (2015). Improving financial strategy to ensure the stability of the enterprise. *Financial and Credit Activity: Problems of Theory and Practice*, *1*, 103-107. doi:10.18371/fcaptp.v1i18.46135

Bala Subrahmanya, M. H. (2015). Innovation and growth of engineering SMEs in
Bangalore: Why do only some innovate and only some grow faster? *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, *36*, 24-40. doi:10.1016/j.jengtecman.2015.05.001

Ballot, G., Fakhfakh, F., Galia, F., & Salter, A. (2015). The fateful triangle:
Complementarities in performance between product, process and organizational innovation in France and the UK. *Research Policy*, 44(1), 217-232.
doi:10.1016/j.respol.2014.07.003

- Bambale, A. (2014). Research methodological techniques as a model for quantitative studies in Social Sciences. *British Journal of Economics, Management & Trade*, 4, 862-879. doi:10.9734/bjemt/2014/7665
- Barnsley, J. (2015). Grounded theology: Adopting and adapting qualitative research methods for feminist theological enquiry. *Feminist Theology*, 24, 109-124. doi:10.1177/0966735015612175
- Bartoloni, E., & Baussola, M. (2015). Does technological innovation undertaken alone have a real pivotal role? Product and marketing innovation in manufacturing firms. *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 25, 91-113. doi:10.1080/10438599.2015.1057002
- Bashir, M. R., Sirlin, C. B., & Reeder, S. B. (2014). On confirmation bias in imaging research. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 41, 1163-1164. doi:10.1002/jmri.24720
- Bateman, J., & Davies, D. (2014). The challenge of disruptive innovation in learning technology. *Medical Education*, 48, 227-228. doi:10.1111/medu.12410
- Behr, D. (2014). Translating answers to open-ended survey questions in cross-cultural research: A case study on the interplay between translation, coding, and analysis. *Field Methods*, 27, 284-299. doi:10.1177/1525822x14553175
- Battisti, G., Colombo, M. G., & Rabbiosi, L. (2015). Simultaneous versus sequential complementarity in the adoption of technological and organizational innovations: The case of innovations in the design sphere. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 24, 345-382. doi:10.1093/icc/dtv003

- Berawi, M. A. (2015). Technology breakthrough: A need for continuous improvement. International Journal of Technology, 6, 302-302. doi:10.14716/ijtech.v6i3.1507
- Berends, H., Jelinek, M., Reymen, I., & Stultiëns, R. (2013). Product innovation processes in small firms: Combining entrepreneurial effectuation and managerial causation. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 31, 616-635. doi:10.1111/jpim.12117
- Bereznoi, A. (2015). Business model innovation in corporate competitive strategy.
 Problems of Economic Transition, 57(8), 14-33.
 doi:10.1080/10611991.2014.1042313
- Bhat, S., Gijo, E., & Jnanesh, N. (2014). Application of lean six sigma methodology in the registration process of a hospital. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, *63*, 613-643. doi:10.1108/IJPPM-11-2013-0191
- Bianchi, C., & Steele, M. (2014). Coaching for innovation. Retrieved from http://www.palgraveconnect.com/pc/doifinder/10.1057/9781137353269.0018
- Bicen, P., & Johnson, W. H. A. (2015). Radical innovation with limited resources in high-turbulent markets: The role of lean innovation capability. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 24, 278-299. doi:10.1111/caim.12120
- Bjerstedt, S. (2015). The jazz storyteller: Improvisers' perspectives on music and narrative. *Jazz*, *9*(1), 37-61. doi:10.1558/jazz.v9i1.21502
- Blair, H. E. (2015). Innovation and technology. *Critical Values*, 8(4), 3-9. doi:10.1093/criticalvalues/8.4.3

- Boccardi, F., Heath, R., Lozano, A., Marzetta, T., & Popovski, P. (2014). Five disruptive technology directions for 5G. *Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Communications Magazine*, *52*(2), 74-80. doi:10.1109/mcom.2014.6736746
- Bolsinger, M. (2014). Bringing value-based business process management to the operational process level. *Engineering Business Management*, 13, 355-398. doi:10.1007/s10257-014-0248-1
- Bokhonko, Y. (2017). Foreign experience in training future engineering educators for modeling technological processes. *Comparative Professional Pedagogy*, 7(1), 8-10. doi:10.1515/rpp-2017-0015.
- Brattstrom, A., Lofsten, H., & Richtner, A. (2015). Similar, yet different: A comparative analysis of the role of trust in radical and incremental product innovation. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, *19*(4), 15-33.
 doi:10.1142/s1363919615500437
- Bridges-Rhoads, S. (2015). Writing paralysis in (post) qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *21*, 704-710. doi:10.1177/1077800414566690
- Brookes, J. (2015). Vantage point managing change well. *Nursing Management*, 21(9), 13-18. doi:10.7748/nm.21.9.13.s16
- Brownsword, R. (2016). Technological management and the rule of law. *Law, Innovation and Technology*, 8(1), 100-140. doi:10.1080/17579961.2016.1161891
- Bungay, V., Oliffe, J., & Atchison, C. (2015). Addressing underrepresentation in sex work research: Reflections on designing a purposeful sampling strategy.
 Qualitative Health Research, 26, 966-978. doi:10.1177/1049732315613042

- Brunswicker, S., & Vanhaverbeke, W. (2014). Open innovation in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (SMEs): External knowledge sourcing strategies and internal organizational facilitators. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 5, 1241-1263. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12120
- Bryson, D., Atwal, G., Chaudhuri, H. R., & Dave, K. (2015). Understanding the antecedents of intention to use mobile internet banking in India: Opportunities for microfinance institutions. *Strategic Change*, 24, 207-224. doi:10.1002/jsc.2005
- Buchwald, A., Urbach, N., & Ahlemann, F. (2014). Business value through controlled IT:
- Toward an integrated model of IT governance success and its impact. *Journal of Information Technology*, 29, 128-147. doi:10.1057/jit.2014.3
- Carayannis, E. G., Samara, E. T., & Bakouros, Y. L. (Eds.). (2014). Innovation and competitiveness: Case study. *Innovation and Entrepreneurship* (pp.47-72). New York, NY: Springer International Publishing.
- Ceicyte, J. (2015). Responsible innovation. *Journal of Responsible Innovation*, 2, 237-241. doi:10.1080/23299460.2015.1059010
- Chairoel, L., Widyarto, S., & Pujani, V. (2015). ICT adoption in affecting organizational performance among Indonesian SMEs. *International Technology Management Review*, 5(2), 82-86. doi:10.2991/itmr.2015.5.2.3
- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y. L., & Chien, W. T. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process? *Qualitative Report*, *18*(30), 1-9. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/

- Charmaz, K. (2014). Grounded theory in global perspective: Reviews by international researchers. *Qualitative Inquiry, 20*, 1074-1084. doi:10.1177/1077800414545235
- Chen, R., & Liu, H. (2014). Quantitative aspects of journal of quantitative linguistics. Journal of Quantitative Linguistics, 21(4), 299-340. doi:10.1080/09296174.2014.944327
- Chew, E., & Gottschalk, P. (2013). Strategy, process, business, and systems in knowledge driven service innovation and management: IT strategies for business alignment and value creation. Hershey, PA: Business Science Reference. doi:10.4018/978-1-4666-2512-9.ch002
- Chor, K. H. B., Wisdom, J. P., Olin, S.C. S., Hoagwood, K. E., & Horwitz, S. M. (2014). Measures for predictors of innovation adoption. *Administrative Policy Mental Health*, 42, 545-573. doi:10.1007/s10488-014-0551-7
- Christensen, C., M. (2013). The innovator's dilemma: When new technologies cause great firms to fail. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press. doi:10.2307/40252749
- Chroneer, D., Johansson, J., & Malmstrom, M. (2015). Business model management typologies: Cognitive mapping of business model landscapes. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10, 67-68. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n3p67
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10.1111/jan.12163
- Coccia, M. (2014). Driving forces of technological change: The relation between population growth and technological innovation. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 82, 52-65. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2013.06.001
- Comedy, Y. L., & Grama, S. (2016). The critical role of failure in the innovation process:
 How failures help inventors succeed. *Technology & Innovation*, 17, 169-176.
 doi:10.3727/194982416x14520374942942
- Compete Caribbean. (2014). *Private Sector Assessment Report of St. Lucia* (p. 20). *Inter-American Development Bank*. Retrieved from http://competecaribbean.org/wpcontent/uploads/2015/02/2014-St.-Lucia-Private-Sector-Assessment-Report.pdf
- Cooke, M. (2014). The challenges of grounded theory. *Nurse Researcher*, *21*(5), 6-7. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.6.s2
- Creamer, E. G., & Tendhar, C. (2016). Using inferences to evaluate the value added of mixed methods research: A content analysis. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 9(1), 57-72. doi:10.1080/18340806.2015.1129286
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, *21*(5), 19-27. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Czyz-Gwiazda, E. (2015). Business process orientation and quality orientation interrelationship - survey results. *Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego We Wrocławiu*, 376, 275-291. doi:10.15611/pn.2015.376.19
- Daidj, N. (2015). Disruptive technologies, innovation, and competition in the digital economy. *In Developing strategic business models and competitive advantage in*

the digital sector (pp. 183-211). Hershey, PA: Business Science Reference. doi:10.4018/978-1-4666-6513-2.ch007

- Davies, E. (2015). Meanings and mess in collaborative participatory research. *Literacy*, *49*(1), 28-36. doi:10.1111/lit.12051
- DeFeo, D. J. (2013). Toward a model of purposeful participant inclusion: Examining deselection as a participant risk. *Qualitative Research Journal (Emerald Group Publishing Limited)*, 13, 253-255. doi:10.1108/QRJ-01-2013-0007
- Denzin, N. K. (2014). Triangulation 2.0. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6(2), 80-88. doi:10.1177?1558689812437186
- Dereli, D. D. (2015). Innovation management in global competition and competitive advantage. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *195*, 1365-1370. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.06.323
- Desmarchelier, B., & Fang, E. S. (2016). National culture and innovation diffusion: Exploratory insights from agent-based modeling. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 105, 121-128. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2016.01.018
- Donnelly, P., & Kirk, P. (2015). Use the PDSA model for effective change management. *Education for Primary Care*, *26*, 279-281. doi:10.1080/14739879.2015.11494356
- Drisko, J. W. (2016). Introducing a special issue: Teaching qualitative research and inquiry. *Qualitative Social Work*, *15*, 303-306. doi:10.1177/1473325016638197
- Dumez, H. (2015). What is a case, and what is a case study? *Bulletin of Sociological Methodology*, *127*(1), 43-57. doi:10.1177/0759106315582200

- Dwomoh, G. (2015). The relationship between businesses' acquired knowledge, skills, abilities (SKAs) and shareholders wealth maximization: The mediating role of training investment. *Journal of Investment and Management*, *4*, 171-176. doi:10.11648/j.jim.20150405.15
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. SAGE Open, 4(1), 1-10.
 doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Emmel, N. (2015). Themes, variables, and the limits to calculating sample size in qualitative research: A response to Fugard and Potts. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18, 685-686. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1005457
- Fan, X. (2013). The test is reliable; The test is valid: Language use, unconscious assumptions, and education research practice. *Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 22, 217-218. doi:10.1007/s40299-012-0036-y
- Fields, Z. (2015). Innovative Research Methodology. In A. Takhar-Lail, & A. Ghorbani (Eds.), Market research methodologies: Multi-method and qualitative Approaches (pp. 58-70). Hershey, PA: IGI Global.
- Foley, D., & O'Connor, A. J. (2013). Social capital and networking practices of indigenous entrepreneurs. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 51, 276-296. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12017
- Foss, N. J., & Saebi, T. (Eds.). (2015). Business models and business model innovation. Organizational Dimension, (pp.1-23). Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.

Fugard, A. J. B., & Potts, H. W. W. (2015). Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: A quantitative tool. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18, 669-684. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.925660

Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3

- Gandhe, G. (2015). Disruptive innovation. *Auto Tech Review*, *4*(12), 12-13. doi:10.1365/s40112-015-1047-x
- Ganter, A., & Hecker, A. (2013). Persistence of innovation: Discriminating between types of innovation and sources of state dependence. *Research Policy*, 42, 1431-1445. doi:10.1016/j.respol.2013.04.001
- Garcia, J. (2014). The explanatory critic. *Comparative Literature Studies*, *51*, 491-498. doi:10.5325/complitstudies.51.3.0491
- Ghosh, B. B., & Sur, D. (2015). Globalization, technological innovation, and technology intensive exports: Empirical findings for the Indian economy. *Arthshastra: Indian Journal of Economics and Research*, 4(3), 7-10.
 doi:10.17010/aijer/2015/v4i3/71376

Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. (2013). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, 20, 18-29. doi:10.1177/0969733012452684

Gottlieb, M., Chan, T., Sherbino, J., & Yarris, L. (2017). Multiple wins: Embracing technology to increase efficiency and maximize efforts. *AEM Education and Training*, n/a,n/a, doi:10.1002/aet2.10029

Goulding, L., Parke, H., Maharaj, R., Loveridge, R., McLoone, A., Hadfield, S., &
Sandall, J. (2015). Improving critical care discharge summaries: A collaborative quality improvement project using PDSA. *Business Management Journal - Quality Improvement Reports*, *4*, 3268-3270.
doi:10.1136/bmjquality.u203938.w3268

- Govindarajan, V., & Ramamurti, R. (2014). Reverse innovation, emerging markets, and global strategy. *IEEE Engineering Management Review*, 42, 79-85.
 doi:10.1109/emr.2014.6823812
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20, 109-122. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.925660
- Gu, V. C., Schniederjans, M. J., & Cao, Q. (2015). Diffusion of innovation: Customer relationship management adoption in supply chain businesses. *International Journal of Quality Innovation*, 1(1), 1-4. doi:10.1186/s40887-015-0006-6
- Guisado-Gonzalez, M., Vila-Alonso, M., & Guisado-Tato, M. (2016). Radical innovation, incremental innovation, and training: Analysis of complementarity. *Technology in Society*, 44, 48-54. doi:10.1016/j.techsoc.2015.08.003
- Gunawardhana, M. N., Suzuki, S., & Enkawa, T. (2015). Effect of business model complexity on supply chain management: A case study of apparel value networks.

Journal of Economics, Business and Management, 3(1), 67-75.

doi:10.7763/joebm.2015.v3.157

- Hafford-Letchfield, T. (2014). Doing a successful research project: Using qualitative and quantitative methods. *Social Work Education*, *34*, 244-245.doi:10.1080/02615479.2014.941541
- Hamada, T. (2014). Adaptation to technological innovation and corporate core-rigidities.
 International Journal of Innovation Management, 18, 1450-1454.
 doi:10.1142/s1363919614500194
- Hamilton, L. (2015). When I ask myself these questions. *Ethnography*, *16*, 556-570. doi:10.1177/1466138114555605
- Hammersley, M. (Ed.). (2013). Defining qualitative research. *What is Qualitative Research?*, (pp.1-20). London, England: Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Haned, N., Mothe, C., & Nguyen-Thi, T. U. (2014). Firm persistence in technological innovation: The relevance of organizational innovation. *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 23, 490-516. doi:10.1080/10438599.2014.895509
- Hanson, F. A. (2013). *Technology and cultural tectonics*. New York, NY: Pallgrave MacMillan. doi:10.1057/9781137338365
- Hao, S., & Song, M. (2015). Technology-driven strategy and firm performance: Are strategic capabilities missing links? *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 751-759. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.07.043
- Harris, M. (2014). Snapping up Kodak. *Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Spectrum*, *51*(2), 30-62. doi:10.1109/mspec.2014.6729375

- Harris, R., McAdams, R., McCausland, I., & Reid, R. (2013). The level of innovation within SMEs in the peripheral region: The role of business improvement. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 20, 102-124. doi:101108/14626001311298439
- Harvey, L. (2014). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23-38. doi.10.1080/1743727x.2014.914487.
- Heale, R., & Forbes, D. (2013). Understanding triangulation in research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *16*, 98-104. doi:10.1136/eb-2013-101494
- Heidenreich, S., & Kraemer, T. (2015). Innovations-doomed to fail? Investigating strategies to overcome passive innovation resistance. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 33, 277-297. doi:10.1111/jpim.12273
- Hervas-Oliver, J. L., Sempere-Ripoll, F., & Boronat-Moll, C. (2014). Process innovation strategy in SMEs, organizational innovation and performance: A misleading debate?. *Small Business Economics*, 43(4), 1-14. doi:10.1007/s11187-014-9567-3
- Hofisi, C., Hofisi, M., & Mago, S. (2014). Critiquing interviewing as a data collection method. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, *5*, 2039-2117. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n16p60
- Holmes, M. (2014). Researching emotional reflexivity. *Emotion Review*, 7(1), 61-66. doi:10.1177/1754073914544478
- Hong, Y.-P., Kim, Y., & Cin, B. C. (2015). Product-service system and firm performance: The mediating role of product and process technological innovation.

Emerging Markets Finance and Trade, 51, 975-984.

doi:10.1080/1540496x.2015.1061388

- Honig, B., Lampel, J., Siegel, D., & Drnevich, P. (2014). Ethics in the production of dissemination of management research: Institutional failure or individual fallibility? *Journal of Management Studies*, *51*, 118-142. doi:10.1111/joms.12056
- Hood, C. (2014). Bridging the gap between requirements engineering process definition and successful iterative roll-out. Dr. Deming was right, plan do study act. In S. Schulze & M. M. Munchen (Eds.), *Tag des Systems Engineering*, (pp. 165-169). Munich, Germany: Carl Hanser Verlag GmbH & Co. KG.
- Hott, B. L., Limberg, D., Ohrt, J. H., & Schmit, M. K. (2015). Reporting results of singlecase studies. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 93, 412-417. doi:10.1002/jcad.12039
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigor in qualitative case study research. *Nurse Researcher*, *20*, 12-17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hueske, A.-K., & Guenther, E. (2015). What hampers innovation? External stakeholders, the business, groups and individuals: A systematic review of empirical barrier research. *Management Review Quarterly*, 65, 113-148. doi:10.1007/s11301-014-0109-5
- Hueske, A.-K., Endrikat, J., & Guenther, E. (2015). External environment, the innovating business, and its individuals: A multilevel model for identifying innovation barriers accounting for social uncertainties. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 35, 45-70. doi:10.1016/j.jengtecman.2014.10.001

- Hungund, S., & Kiran, K. B. (2017). Open innovation practices among Indian software product firms: A pilot study. *International Journal of Innovation and Sustainable Development*, 11(4), 355-355. doi:10.1504/ijisd.2017.10003846
- Hussein, B., & Dayekh, A. (2014). Business process reengineering (BPR) key success factors. *International Journal of Applied Management Sciences and Engineering*, 1(1), 58-66. doi:10.4018/ijamse.2014010104
- Ihemeje, J. (2015). Cost-volume-profit analysis and decision making in the manufacturing industries of Nigeria. *Journal of International Business Research* and Marketing, 1(1), 8-16. doi:10.18775/jibrm.1849-8558.2015.11.3001
- Jin, W. (2016). International technology diffusion, multilateral R&D coordination, and global climate mitigation. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 102, 357-372. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2015.08.005
- Johansen, A.B., Ness, O. & Wennesland, D.K. (2015). Practical support facilitates recovery processes in professionally organized addiction self-help: An explanatory case study. *Journal of Groups in Addiction & Recovery*, 10, 224-248. doi.10.1080/1556035x.2015.1066724
- Johnson, M. R. (2016). Information technology implementation in service enhancement: A qualitative case study. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 6(7), 67-69. doi:10.5430/jnep.v6n7p67
- Jurisch, M. C., Palka, W., Wolf, P., & Krcmar, H. (2014). Which capabilities matter for successful business process change? *Business Process Management Journal*, 20(1), 47-67. doi:10.1108/bpmj-11-2012-0125

- Kachouie, R., & Sedighadeli, S. (2015). New product development success factors in prospector organisations: Mixed method approach. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 19, 150-155. doi:10.1142/s1363919615500401
- Kapoor, K. K., Dwivedi, Y. K., & Williams, M. D. (2014). Rogers' innovation adoption attributes: A systematic review and synthesis of existing research. *Information Systems Management*, 31(1), 74-91. doi:10.1080/10580530.2014.854103
- Kesting, P., & Günzel-Jensen, F. (2015). SMEs and new ventures need business model sophistication. *Business Horizons*, *58*, 285-293. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2015.01.002
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method: Grounded theory. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *9*, 224-225. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p224.
- Kim, S. K., & Min, S. (2015). Business model innovation performance: When does adding a new business model benefit an incumbent? *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, 9(1), 34-57. doi:10.1002/sej.1193
- Kingston, W. (2015). Restoring the primacy of technological innovation. *Prometheus*, *32*(3), 1-21. doi:10.1080/08109028.2015.1060702
- Kinuthia, N., & Chung, S. (2017). An empirical study of technological factors affecting cloud enterprise resource planning systems adoption. *Information Resources Management Journal*, 30(2), 1-22. doi:10.4018/irmj.2017040101
- Kong, K., & Kong, S. (2013). A quality improvement project in a hospital in rural Nepal
 improving infection control practice using the Plan, Do, Study, Act (PDSA)
 cycle. *International Journal of Infection Control*, 9(3), 12-16.
 doi:10.3396/ijic.v9i3.025.13

Koonrungsesomboon, N., Laothavorn, J., & Karbwang, J. (2015). Understanding of essential elements required in informed consent form among researchers and institutional review board members. *Tropical Medicine and Health*, *43*, 117-122. doi:10.2149/tmh.2014-36

Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *12*, 397-414.
doi:10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941

- Krcal, O. (2014). The relationship between profitability, innovation and technology gap:
 A basic model. *Review of Economic Perspectives*, *14*(3), 10-18.
 doi:10.2478/revecp-2014-0011
- Kumar, P., & Zattoni, A. (2014). Ownership, managerial entrenchment, and corporate performance. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 22(1), 1-3. doi:10.1111/corg.12053
- Kuronen, T. (2014). Visual discourse analysis in historical research: A case of visual archaeology? *Management & Organizational History*, 10(1), 52-70. doi:10.1080/17449359.2014.989233
- La, S., & Yi, Y. (2015). A critical review of customer satisfaction, customer loyalty, relationship marketing, and customer relationship management. *Korean Marketing Review*, *30*(1), 53-53. doi:10.15830/kmr.2015.30.1.53
- Laumer, S., Maier, C., Eckhardt, A., & Weitzel, T. (2015). User personality and resistance to mandatory information systems in organizations: A theoretical

model and empirical test of dispositional resistance to change. *Journal of Information Technology*, *31*(1), 67-82. doi:10.1057/jit.2015.17

- Lee, J., Kim, C., & Shin, J. (2017). Technology opportunity discovery to R&D planning: Key technological performance analysis. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2017.03.011
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Liang, C., & Chia, T.-L. (2014). Reliability, validity, and factor structure of the imaginative capability scale. *Creativity Research Journal*, 26(1), 106-114. doi:10.1080/10400419.2014.873671
- Lindgren, E., & Münch, J. (2016). Raising the odds of success: The current state of experimentation in product development. *Information and Software Technology*, 77(1), 80-91. doi:10.1016/j.infsof.2016.04.008
- Linthicum, D. S. (2016). Software-defined networks meet cloud computing. *Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Cloud Computing*, 3(3), 8-10. doi:10.1109/mcc.2016.62
- Looy, A. V., Backer, M. D., & Poels, G. (2014). A conceptual framework and classification of capability areas for business process maturity. *Enterprise Information Systems*, 8, 188-224. doi:10.1080/17517575.2012.688222
- Lorange, P., & Datson, E. (2014). Business cycles: Looking beyond the downside for competitive advantages. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 35(1), 9-19. doi:10.1108/jbs-02-2013-0013

- Lozano, M., Hamplová, D., & Le Bourdais, C. (2016). Non-standard work schedules, gender, and parental stress. *Demographic Research*, *34*, 259-284.
 doi:10.4054/demres.2016.34.9
- Lucas, H., & Goh, J. (2013). Disruptive technology: How Kodak missed the digital photography revolution. *Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Engineering Management Review*, 41(4), 81-93. doi:10.1109/emr.2013.6693939
- Lui, A. K. H., Ngai, E. W. T., & Lo, C. K. Y. (2015). Disruptive information technology innovations and the cost of equity capital: The moderating effect of CEO incentives and institutional pressures. *Information & Management*, *53*, 345-354. doi:10.1016/j.im.2015.09.009
- Maiga, A. S. (2017). Assessing the relationships among information systems integration, coordination cost improvements, and firm profitability. *International Journal of Business Information Systems*, 25(1), 88-88. doi:10.1504/ijbis.2017.083278
- Maiga, A. S. (2015). Information systems integration and firm profitability: Mediating effect of cost management strategy. *Advances in Management Accounting*, 25, 149-179. doi:10.1108/s1474-787120150000025004
- Maiga, A. S., Nilsson, A., & Ax, C. (2015). Relationships between internal and external information systems integration, cost and quality performance, and firm profitability. *International Journal of Production Economics*, *169*, 422-434. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.08.030
- Malmstrom, M. (2013). Typologies of bootstrap financing behavior in small ventures. *Venture Capital*, *16*(1), 27-50. doi:10.1080/13691066.2013.863064

- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2015). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1753-1760. doi:10.1177/1049732315617444
- Manganelli, J., Threatt, A., Brooks, J. O., Healy, S., Merino, J., Yanik, P., Green, K.
 (2014). Confirming, classifying, and prioritizing needed over-the-bed table improvements via methodological triangulation. *Health Environments Research & Design Journal*, 8(1), 94-114. doi:10.1177/193758671400800108
- Mangioni, V., & McKerchar, M. (2013). Strengthening the validity and reliability of the focus group as a method in tax research. *eJournal of Tax Research*, *11*, 176-190.
 Retrieved from http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/eJTR/2013/10.htm
- Mannay, D. (2013). Review article. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 242-244. doi:10.1177/1468794112450831
- Mannay, D., & Morgan, M. (2014). Doing ethnography or applying a qualitative technique? reflections from the waiting field. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 166-182. doi:10.1177/1468794113517391
- Manning, J., & Kunkel, A. (Eds.). (2014). Method and analysis in qualitative relationships. *Researching interpersonal relationships: Qualitative methods, studies, and analysis* (pp.23-48). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Marcelino Sádaba, S., Pérez-Ezcurdia, A., Echeverría-Lazcano, A. M., & Benito
Amurrio, M. (2015). Definition of innovation projects in small firms: A Spanish
study. *Research & Development Management*, 46, 36-48.
doi:10.1111/radm.12109

Mariotto, F. L., Pinto Zanni, P., & De Moraes, G. M. (2014). What is the use of a multiple case study in management research? *Rae: Revista De Administração De Empresas*, 54, 358-369. doi:10.1590/S0034-759020140402

Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in is research. *Journal of Computer Information System*, *54*(1), 11-22.

doi:10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2015). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Maryska, M., & Doucek, P. (2015). Reference model of cost allocation and profitability for efficient management of corporate ICT. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *23*, 1009-1016. doi:10.1016/s2212-5671(15)00324-x
- Mauceri, S. (2015). Integrating quality into quantity: Survey research in the era of mixed methods. *Quality & Quantity*, *50*, 1213-1231. doi:10.1007/s11135-015-0199-8
- McMullen, H., Griffiths, C., Leber, W., & Greenhalgh, T. (2015). Explaining high and low performers in complex intervention trials: A new model based on diffusion of innovations theory. *Trials*, 16(1), 5-7. doi:10.1186/s13063-015-0755-5
- Meesuptong, J., Jhundra-indra, P., & Raksong, S. (2014). Strategic marketing creativity and marketing profitability: A conceptual model. *International Journal of Business Research*, 14(4), 7-26. doi:10.18374/ijbr-14-4.1

Mehmood, Y., Barbieri, N., & Bonchi, F. (2015). Modeling adoptions and the stages of the diffusion of innovations. *Knowledge Information Systems*, 48(1), 1-27. doi:10.1007/s10115-015-0889-5

Menguc, B., Auh, S., & Yannopoulos, P. (2013). Customer and supplier involvement in design: The moderating role of incremental and radical innovation capability. *Journal of Production and Innovation Management*, *31*, 313-328. doi:10.1111/jpim.12097

- Miller J. (2014). Remarks at the John White, Jr. Forum on Public Policy on Regional Manufacturing Hubs. A path to innovation. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution. Retrieved from http://www.brookings.edu/events/2014/07/09regional-manufacturing-hubs-innovation
- Morin, K. H. (2013). Value of a pilot study. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *52*, 547-548. doi:10.3928/01484834-20130920-10
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Analytic strategies and sample size. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1317-1318. doi:10.1177/1049732315602867
- Morse, J. M., & Coulehan, J. (2014). Maintaining confidentiality in qualitative publications. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 151-152.
 doi:10.1177/1049732314563489
- Moser, F. (2015). Mobile banking. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, *33*, 162-177. doi:10.1108/ijbm-08-2013-0082

Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Moss, G. (2014). HTC v Nokia: In the United Kingdom will an injunction be granted following a finding of patent infringement? *Journal of Intellectual Property Law* & *Practice*, 9, 351-352. doi:10.1093/jiplp/jpu019

Moss, J. M., Gibson, D. M., & Dollarhide, C. T. (2014). Professional identity development: A grounded theory of transformational tasks of counselors. *Journal* of Counseling and Development, 92(1), 3-12. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2014.00124.x

- Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis: The ConQual approach.
 BMC Medical Research Methodology, 14(1), 1-7. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-108
- Nagy, D., Schuessler, J., & Dubinsky, A. (2016). Defining and identifying disruptive innovations. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 57, 119-126.
 doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.11.017
- Nambisan, S. (2013). Industry technical committees, technological distance, and innovation performance. *Research Policy*, *42*, 928-940.
 doi:10.1016/j.respol.2013.01.001
- Narasimha, M. D., & Vijaya, K. B. (2015). Internet of things (IoT): Is IoT a disruptive technology or a disruptive business model? *Indian Journal of Marketing*, 45(8), 18-18. doi:10.17010/ijom/2015/v45/i8/79915
- Nassaji, H. (2015). Qualitative and descriptive research: Data type versus data analysis. *Language Teaching Research*, *19*(2), 129-132. doi:10.1177/1362168815572747

Nedbal, D. (2013). A process model to guide the integration of business processes and services within and across organisations. *International Journal of Services, Economics and Management*, 5(1/2), 154-154. doi:10.1504/ijsem.2013.051855

Newman, I., Lim, J., & Pineda, F. (2013). Content validity using mixed methods approach it application and development through the use of a table of specification method. *Journal of Mixed Research*, *7*, 243-260. doi:10.1177/1558689813476922

- Newington, L., & Metcalfe, A. (2014). Factors influencing recruitment to research:
 Qualitative study of the experiences and perceptions of research terms. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 14(1), 1-20. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-10
- Nicolás Marín Ximénez, J., & J. Sanz, L. (2014). Financial decision-making in a highgrowth company: The case of Apple incorporated. *Management Decision*, 52, 1591-1610. doi:10.1108/md-10-2013-0557
- Nyhan, B. (2015). Increasing the credibility of Political Science research: A proposal for journal reforms. *Political Science*, *48*(1), 78-83. doi:10.1017/s1049096515000463
- Nguyen, T. H., Newby, M., & Macaulay, M.J., (2013). Information technology adoption in small business: Confirmation of a framework. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 53(1), 207-227. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12058
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, *18*(2), 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054

- Okonkwo, G. O. (2016). *Innovation strategies of small and medium-sized Central North Carolina discount retailers* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10044689)
- O'Brien, K. (2016). Is newest always best? Firm-level evidence to challenge a focus on high-capability technological (product or process) innovation. *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 25, 747-768. doi:10.1080/10438599.2016.1147194

- O'Regan, G. (2015). Xerox PARC. *Pillars of Computing*, (pp.225-229). New York, NY: Springer International Publishing.
- Padula, G., Novelli, E., & Conti, R. (2015). SMEs inventive performance and profitability in the markets for technology. *Technovation*, 41(4), 38-50. doi:10.1016/j.technovation.2015.01.002
- Pasternak, G. (2015). Taking snapshots, living the picture: The Kodak company's making photographic biography. *Life Writing*, *12*, 431-446.
 doi:10.1080/14484528.2015.1084604
- Patnaik, S., & Prasad, C. S. (2013). Innovation in development businesses: An Indian perspective. *Development and Learning in Businesses*, 27(5), 15-17. doi:10.1108/dlo-04-2013-0013
- Paulsen, C. (2016). Cybersecuring small businesses. *Computer*, 49(8), 92-97. doi:10.1109/mc.2016.223
- Pellegrino, G., Piva, M., & Vivarelli, M. (2015). How do new entrepreneurs innovate? *Economia e Politica Industriale*, 42, 323-341. doi:10.1007/s40812-015-0015-4

- Pelser, A. C. (2014). Emotion, evaluative perception, and epistemic justification. *Emotion and Value*, *13*, 107-123. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199686094.003.0007
- Penninckx, M., Vanhoof, J., De Maeyer, S., & Van Petegem, P. (2015). Enquiry into the side effects of school inspection in a 'low-stakes' inspection context. *Research Papers in Education*, 31, 462-482. doi:10.1080/02671522.2015.1076886
- Persichitte, K. A. (2016). Strategic planning and conference planning update. *TechTrends*, *60*(3), 194-194. doi:10.1007/s11528-016-0054-3
- Plamondon, K. M., Bottorff, J. L., & Cole, D. C. (2015). Analyzing data generated through deliberative dialogue: Bringing knowledge translation into qualitative analysis. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1529-1539. doi:10.1177/1049732315581603
- Podmetina, D., Volchek, D., & Smirnova, M. (2015). The relationship between innovation and internationalisation in a turbulent environment. *International Journal of Technology Marketing*, 10, 326-326. doi:10.1504/ijtmkt.2015.070648
- Raeburn, T., Schmied, V., Hungerford, C., & Cleary, M. (2015). The contribution of case study design to supporting research on clubhouse psychosocial rehabilitation.
 BMC Research Notes, 8(1), 1-7. doi:10.1186/s13104-015-1521-1

Ramlo, S. (2015). Mixed method lessons learned from 80 years of Q methodology. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *10*(1), 28-45. doi:10.1177/1558689815610998 Randall, D. M., & Gibson, A. M. (2013). Methodology in business ethics research: A review and critical assessment. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *2*, 191-211. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-4126-3_10

Ratnam, K. A., & Dominic, P. D. D. (2014). The factors associating the adoption of cloud computing: An enhancement of the healthcare ecosystem in Malaysia. *International Journal of Business Information Systems*, *16*, 462-462.
doi:10.1504/ijbis.2014.063932

- Ratten, V. (2014). Behavioral intentions to adopt technological innovations. *International Journal of Enterprise Information Systems*, *10*(3), 1-12.
 doi:10.4018/ijeis.2014070101
- Reddi, D. S. K. (2016). Disruptive innovation in banking sectors. *International Journal of Scientific research and management*, 4(2), 2-6. doi:10.18535/ijsrm/v4i2.05
- Restuccia, M., de Brentani, U., Legoux, R., & Ouellet, J. F. (2015). Product life-cycle management and distributor contribution to new product development. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 33(1), 69-89. doi:10.1111/jpim.12261
- Rice, E., Holloway, I. W., Barman-Adhikari, A., Fuentes, D., Brown, C. H., & Palinkas,
 L. A. (2014). A mixed methods approach to network data collection. *Field Methods*, 26, 252-268. doi:10.1177/1525822x13518168
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C. M., & Ormston, R. (Eds.). (2013). *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Robinson, R. S. (2014). Purposive sampling. Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research, (pp.5243-5245). New York, NY: Springer International Publishing.
- Rogers, E., (1995). Diffusion of innovations. (4th ed.) New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Rogers, E.M. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed.). New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Rogers, E. M. (2015). Evolution: Diffusion of innovations. *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*, n/a, 378-381. doi:10.1016/b978-0-08-097086-8.81064-8
- Rose, K. H. (2015). Managing amidst rapid change. *Project Management Journal*, 46(5), 2-2. doi:10.1002/pmj.21527
- Ross, M. (2014). Research ethics and permission. *Clinical Teaching*, *11*, 495-496. doi:10.1111/tct.12340
- Rotheram-Borus, M., Swendeman, D., & Chorpita, B. F. (2012). Disruptive innovations for designing and diffusing evidence-based interventions. *American Psychologist*, 67, 463-476. doi:10.1037/a0028180
- Roulston, K. (2013). Interactional problems in research interviews. *Qualitative Research*, *14*, 277-293. doi:10.1177/1468794112473497
- Roy, O., & Pacuit, E. (2013). Substantive assumptions in interaction: A logical perspective. *Synthese*, *190*, 891-908. doi:10.1007/s11229-012-0191-y
- Royset, J. O. (2013). On sample size control average approximations for solving smooth stochastic programs. *Computational Optimization and Applications*, 55, 265-309. doi:10.1007/s10589-012-9528-1

- Ryan, L. (2013). Leading change through creative destruction: How Netflix's selfdestructive-start strategy created its market. *International Journal of Business Innovation and Research*, 7, 429-445. doi:10.1504/IJBIR.2013.054868
- Sabadie, J. A. (2014). Technological innovation, human capital and social change for sustainability. Lessons learnt from the industrial technologies theme of the EU's research framework programme. *Science of the Total Environment*, 481, 668-673. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.09.082
- Sadan, V. (2014). Mixed methods research: A new approach. International Journal of Nursing Education, 6(1), 254-254. doi:10.5958/j.0974-9357.6.1.052
- Saenz-Royo, C., Gracia-Lazaro, C., & Moreno, Y. (2015). The role of the business structure in the diffusion of innovations. *PLoS ONE*, *10*, 126-176. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0126076
- Šalkovska, J., & Ogsta, E. (2014). Quantitative and qualitative measurement methods of companies' marketing efficiency. *Management of Organizations: Systematic Research*, 70, 91-105. doi:10.7220/mosr.1392.1142.2014.70.7
- Sania, U., Kalpina, K., & Javed, H. (2015). Diversity, employee morale and customer satisfaction: The three musketeers. *Journal of Economics, Business and Management*, 3(1), 11-18. doi:10.7763/joebm.2015.v3.147
- Sarma, S. K. (2015). Qualitative research: Examining the misconceptions. South Asian Journal of Management, 22, 176-191. Retrieved from http://www.sajmamdisa.org

- Saunila, M., Ukko, J., & Rantanen, H. (2014). Does innovation capability really matter for the profitability of SMEs? *Knowledge and Process Management*, 21, 134-142. doi:10.1002/kpm.1442
- Scannella, E., (2015). What drives the disintegration of the loan origination value chain in the banking business. *Business Process Management Journal*, 21, 288-311. doi:/10.1108/bpmj-02-2014-0017
- Schenk, B. (2014). The role of enterprise systems in process innovation. BPM Driving Innovation in a Digital World, (pp.75-84). New York, NY: Springer International Publishing.
- Sebestova, J., & Nowakova, K. (2015). Innovation spirit evaluation within service businesses: The case of the Czech Republic. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 181, 241-250. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.04.885
- Segarra, A., & Teruel, M. (2014). High-growth firms and innovation: An empirical analysis for Spanish firms. *Small Business Economics*, 43, 805-821. doi:10.1007/s11187-014-9563-7
- Shader, R. I. (2015). Proof of Feasibility: What a pilot study is and is not. *Clinical Therapeutics*, *37*, 1379-1380. doi:10.1016/j.clinthera.2015.06.011

Sharma, T., & Ghosh, T. (2015). Cognizant India: Reinventing the value proposition. *Emerald Emerging Markets Case Studies*, 5(8), 1-35. doi:10.1108/eemcs-11-2014-0271

- Sheehan, N. T., & Bruni-Bossio, V. (2015). Strategic value curve analysis: Diagnosing and improving customer value propositions. *Business Horizons*, 58, 317-324. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2015.01.005
- Shimei, N., Krumer-Nevo, M., Saar-Heiman, Y., Russo-Carmel, S., Mirmovitch, I., & Zaitoun-Aricha, L. (2016). Critical social work: A performance ethnography. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 22, 615-623. doi:10.1177/1077800416629696
- Shrivastava, P., Ivanaj, S., & Ivanaj, V. (2016). Strategic technological innovation for sustainable development. *International Journal of Technology Management*, 70(1), 76-76. doi:10.1504/ijtm.2016.074672
- Silaban, H. (2016). Applying interactive planning on science and technology policy in state personnel agency. *International Journal on Advanced Science, Engineering* and Information Technology, 6(5), 689-689. doi:10.18517/ijaseit.6.5.1027
- Slater, M. J., Evans, A. L., & Turner, M. J. (2015). Implementing a social identity approach for effective change management. *Journal of Change Management*, *16*(1), 18-37. doi:10.1080/14697017.2015.1103774
- Sloan, A., & Bowe, B. (2013). Phenomenology and hermeneutic phenomenology: The philosophy, the methodologies, and using hermeneutic phenomenology to investigate lecturers' experiences of curriculum design. *Quality & Quantity*, 48, 1291-1303. doi:10.1007/s11135-013-9835-3
- Smith, A. (2016). Data collection dangers. *ITNOW*, *57*(1), 10-12. doi:10.1093/itnow/bwv004

- Smith, A. (2015). Introduction: What grounded theory is. Organizational Research Methods, 18, 578-580. doi.10.1177/1094428115604539.
- Sotiriadou, P., Brouwers, J., & Le, T.-A. (2014). Choosing a qualitative data analysis tool: A comparison of NVivo and Leximancer. *Annals of Leisure Research*, *17*, 218-234. doi:10.1080/11745398.2014.902292
- Souto, J. E. (2015). Business model innovation and business concept innovation as the context of incremental innovation and radical innovation. *Tourism Management*, 51, 142-155. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2015.05.017
- Sparks, S., Cunningham, S. J., & Kritikos, A. (2016). Culture modulates implicit ownership-induced self-bias in memory. *Cognition*, 153, 89-98. doi:10.1016/j.cognition.2016.05.003
- Spector, P. E. (2013). Introduction: The dark and light sides of organizational citizenship behavior. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *34*, 540-541. doi:10.1002/job.1846
- Srivastava, S., & Misra, M. (2014). Developing evaluation matrix for critical success factors in technology forecasting. *Global Business Review*, 15, 363-380. doi:10.1177/0972150914523598
- Stephen, J., Mohammed, S., & Momodou, A. (2016). Determination of efficient bandwidth utilization during multicast using data envelopment analysis. *International Journal of Computer Applications*, 139(9), 1-6. doi:10.5120/ijca2016908032
- Stoudt, B. G. (2014). Quantitative methods. *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Action Research*. doi:10.4135/9781446294406.n252

- Stuckey, H. (2015). The second step in data analysis: Coding qualitative research data. *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*, *3*(1), 7-7. doi:10.4103/2321-0656.140875
- Suwannathat, P., Decharin, P., & Somboonsavatdee, A. (2015). Fostering innovation in public businesses in Thailand. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 23, 528-544. doi:10.1108/ijoa-03-2012-0563
- Taran, Y., Boer, H., & Lindgren, P. (2015). A business model innovation typology. Decision Sciences, 46, 301-331. doi:10.1111/deci.12128
- Tarmidi, M., Rasid, S. Z. A., Alrazi, B., & Roni, R. A. (2014). Cloud computing awareness and adoption among accounting practitioners in Malaysia. *Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 164, 569-574. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.11.147
- Tavassoli, S., & Karlsson, C. (2015). Persistence of various types of innovation analyzed and explained. *Research Policy*, *44*, 1887-1901. doi:10.1016/j.respol.2015.06.001
- Teoh, S. Y., & Cai, S. (2015). The process of strategic, agile, innovation development. Journal of Global Information Management, 23(3), 1-22.

doi:10.4018/jgim.2015070101

Tetnowski, J. (2015). Qualitative case study research design. *Perspect Fluen Fluen Disord*, *25*(1), 39-39. doi:10.1044/ffd25.1.39

Thiem, A. (2015). Using qualitative comparative analysis for identifying causal chains in configurational data: A methodological commentary on Baumgartner and Epple (2014). *Sociological Methods & Research*, *44*, 723-736.
doi:10.1177/0049124115589032

- Thompson, E. M. (2015). Plan-do-study-act to implement change. *OR Nurse*, *9*(3), 6-6. doi:10.1097/01.orn.0000464756.31062.6d
- Tola, A., & Contini, M., V. (2015). From the diffusion of innovation to tech parks, business incubators as a model of economic development: The case of Sardegna Ricerche. *Journal of Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *176*, 494-503. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.502
- Toro-Jarrín, M. A., Ponce-Jaramillo, I. E., & Güemes-Castorena, D. (2016).
 Methodology for the building of process integration of business model canvas and technological roadmap. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *110*, 213-225. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2016.01.009
- Triguero, A., Moreno-Mondéjar, L., & Davia, M. A. (2014). Business managers and supervisors and laggards in environmental innovation: An empirical analysis of SMEs in Europe. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 25(1), 28-39. doi:10.1002/bse.1854
- Tuck, E., & McKenzie, M. (2015). Relational validity and the where of inquiry: Place and land in qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21, 633-638. doi:10.1177/1077800414563809
- Uchida, Y. (2015). The relationship between technology and diffusion process. *Journal* of International Business and Economics, 15(2), 87-94. doi:10.18374/jibe-15-2.7
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2014). Small business facts and infographics.

Survival rates and firm age. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Small Business Administration. Retrieved from

https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/SurvivalRatesAndFirmAge_ADA_0.pdf

- Vargas, M. I. R. (2015). Determinant factors for small business to achieve innovation, high performance and competitiveness: Organizational learning and business managers and supervisorship style. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 169, 43-52. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.284
- Vernon, F. (2015). The diversity project: An ethnography of social justice experiential education programming. *Ethnography and Education*, *11*, 298-315.
 doi:10.1080/17457823.2015.1101380
- Viloria, A. (2016). Commercial strategies providers pharmaceutical chains for logistics cost reduction. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, 9(47), 107-112. doi:10.17485/ijst/2015/v8i1/107373
- Von Contzen, E., & Alders, M. (2015). Collective experience in narrative: Conclusions and proposals. *Narrative*, 23, 226-229. doi:10.1353/nar.2015.0012
- Wade, L. (2015). Drones and satellites spot lost civilizations in unlikely places. *Science*, n/a (n/a), 1-1. doi:10.1126/science.aaa7864
- Walsh, K. (2013). When I say...triangulation. *Medical Education*, 47, 866-869. doi:10.1111/medu.12241
- Wadsworth, L. L., & Facer, R. L. (2016). Work-family balance and alternative work schedules. *Public Personnel Management*, 45, 382-404. doi:10.1177/0091026016678856

- Wei, J., Lowry, P. B., & Seedorf, S. (2015). The assimilation of RFID technology by Chinese companies: A technology diffusion perspective. *Information & Management*, 52, 628-642. doi:10.1016/j.im.2015.05.001
- Wendelken, A., Danzinger, F., Rau, C., & Moeslein, K. M. (2014). Innovation without me: Why employees do (not) participate in organizational innovation communities. *R&D Management*, 44, 217-236. doi:10.1111/radm.12042
- Wilson, V. (2014). Research methods: Triangulation. *Evidence Based Library and Information Practice*, 9(1), 74-78. doi:10.18438/b8ww3x
- Woolcock, M. (2013). Using case studies to explore the external validity of 'complex' development interventions. *Evaluation*, *19*, 229-248.
 doi:10.1177/1356389013495210
- Wolf, L., Doane, E., & Thompson, S. (2015). Use of the PDSA model with the ERAS checklist. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing*, *30*(4), 26-26.
 doi:10.1016/j.jopan.2015.05.071
- Wood, N.D., Gnonhosou, A., & Bowling, J.W. (2015). Combining parallel and exploratory factor analysis in identifying relationship scales in secondary data.
 Marriage & Family Review, *51*, 385-395. doi.10.1080/01494929.2015.1059785

Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2015). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using ATLAS.ti and NVivo, 1994-2013.
Social Science Computer Review, 34, 597-617. doi:10.1177/0894439315596311

- World Bank. (2015). Country data report for St. Lucia, 1996-2014. World Governance Indicators (WGI). Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group. Retrieved from http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2016/06/26421789/country-datareport-st-lucia-1996-2014
- Wu, X. L., Xu, F. M., Wang, W., Ma, X. Y., & Kuang, H. M. (2013). The confirmation bias in judgment and decision making. *Advances in Psychological Science*, *20*, 1080-1088. doi:10.3724/sp.j.1042.2012.01080
- Yamagata-Lynch, L. C., Cowan, J., & Luetkehans, L. M. (2015). Transforming disruptive technology into sustainable technology: Understanding the front-end design of an online program at a brick-and-mortar university. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 26(1), 10-18. doi:10.1016/j.iheduc.2015.03.002
- Ye, C., Jha, S., & Desouza, K. C. (2015). Communicating the business value of innovation. *International Journal of Innovation Science*, 7(1), 1-12. doi:10.1260/1757-2223.7.1.1
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations. Evaluation, 19, 321-332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Designs and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yohannes, K., & Rudy. (2015). Development of knowledge management system (a case study: Komisi Akreditasi Rumah Sakit Indonesia). *International Journal of Multimedia & Ubiquitous Engineering*, 10, 175-182.
 doi:10.14257/ijmue.2015.10.5.16

- You, I., Palmieri, F., & Barolli, L. (2015). Innovative mobile internet services and applications. *Mobile Information Systems*, 2015(1), 1-2. doi:10.1155/2015/280275
- Young, A., & Temple, B. (2014). Populations and sampling. Approaches to Social Research, 74, 79-102. doi:10.1093/acprof:osobl/9780199929535.003.0005

Zang, W. L. (2014). Research of information security quantitative evaluation method.
 Applied Mechanics and Materials, *513*, 369-372.
 doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.513-517.369

- Zhang, J., & Zhu, M. (2015). Market orientation, product innovation and export performance: Evidence from Chinese manufacturers. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 24, 377-397. doi:10.1080/0965254x.2015.1052538
- Zhang, M., Gao, Q., Wheeler, J. V., & Kwon, J. (2016). Institutional effect on born global firms in China: The role of Sun Tzu's The Art of War strategies. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, 10(1), 1-19. doi:10.1108/jabs-11-2014-0084
- Zheng-yao W., & Qing-sen X, (2013). Multiple perspectives, hierarchical module division method: A case study. *Journal of Applied Sciences*, 13, 5120-5125. doi:10.3923/jas.2013.5120.5125
- Zhou, L., & Nunes, M. B. (2013). Doing qualitative research in Chinese contexts. *Library Hi Tech*, *31*, 419-434. doi:10.1108/lht-11-2012-0104
- Zucker, D. (2014). The Belmont report. *Wiley StatsRef: Statistics reference online*. doi:10.1002/9781118445112.stat06924

	Interview Protocol
What I will do	What I will say – the script
Start with Script - Introduce the interview and set the stage: e.g. in a room at a library to	First, I thank you for agreeing to participate in this study. My name is Petra Samuel and I am a graduate student at Walden University.
produce quality recording.	You were invited to participate in this study because you are a senior level manager, business manager or supervisor in your company who make decisions associated with strategies for integrating technological innovations in the business.
	The interview will last between 30 to 45 minutes. During this time, I will ask you a few questions. The purpose of this study is to find out what strategies business managers and supervisors use for integrating technological innovations in the business. The aim of this study is not to evaluate your experiences or techniques.
 Collect Consent Use audio recorders and brief note taking 	I would like to audio record this discourse today to broaden my note taking. Is that okay with you? If so, can you read and sign the consent form? Feel free to ask as many questions as you want. I assure you this interview is confidential and you are free to withdraw from the study at any time. I am the only one who will have access to this recording, and it will be destroyed after 5 years along with other data I will collect. Do you have any questions for me? Okay, if not we can begin.
 Identify non-verbal queues Paraphrase as required 	1. What strategies are you using for integrating technological innovations in the business to improve profitability?
 Ask follow-up questions to probe for more indepth information 	2. How do you select and implement the strategies for integrating technological innovations in the business to improve profitability?
momuton	3. How do you determine the most effective strategy for integrating technological innovations in your

	business?
	4. How do you measure the effect of using the strategies for integrating technological innovations on the business in terms of profitability?
	5. How would you describe the challenges you experience using the strategies for integrating technological innovations?
	6. How do you remain up-to-date with strategies for integrating technological innovations and changes in technology?
	7. What additional information would you like to add regarding strategies for integrating technological innovations to improve profitability, which was not included in the interview?
End interview with script:	Thank you for allowing me the time to interview you today.
Let participant know how	Your perspective was very helpful in understanding better
I will proceed from here	the strategies business managers and supervisors use for
and what to expect after	integrating technological innovations in the business. I will
the interview.	synthesize your responses and schedule a follow-up
	interview in the next few days for you to verify the data and
	my interpretations.
Schedule member	When will you be available to review your responses?
checking interview	
Me	ember Checking Follow-up Interview
Introduce follow-up	Nice to see you again and thanks for your time. As stated at
interview - handshake	our last interview, the purpose of this interview is to ensure
	I interpreted your responses accurately. This interview will
	be no longer than 20 minutes. Let us begin.
Provide participant a copy	These are the questions and synthesis of interpretations
of the synthesized	Please feel free to elaborate or change as needed.
individual questions	
	• Question 2 and succinct synthesis of interpretation 1
Information must be	
related and in accordance	paragraph or more if required
with the IRB approval. I	

will go through each question, provide my interpretation and ask the following: Did I leave out any information? Or, Is there anything you would like to add?	 Question 3 and succinct synthesis of interpretation 1 paragraph or more if required Question 4 and succinct synthesis of interpretation 1 paragraph or more if required Question 5 and succinct synthesis of interpretation 1 paragraph or more if required Question 6 and succinct synthesis of interpretation 1 paragraph or more if required Question 7 and succinct synthesis of interpretation 1
	paragraph or more if required
Provide participant with copy of research results	Thank you again. Upon completion, I will provide you a copy of the research results.

Comm	nunity Research Partner Name:
Conta	at Information:
Date:	23 Fel 11
Dear I	'etra Samuel,
Based entitle potent results	on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study d Strategies for Integrating Technological Innovations in Small Businesses within the strategies. As part of this study, I authorize you to conduct interviews with ial participants, perform member checking and provide us with a copy of your research Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.
We un	derstand that our organization's responsibilities include: Provide the researcher with contact information for the potential participants Participate voluntarily in an interview with the researcher regarding Strategies for Integrating Technological Innovations in Small Businesses Duration of interview will be 30-45 minutes The interview will be audio recorded to ensure data accuracy Participate voluntarily in a follow-up interview to ensure researcher's interpretation of data are accurate. The duration of this interview will be no longer than 20 minutes Voluntarily provide hard copy and digital company documents relating to technological integration process
We re	erve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.
I confi the org	rm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting and that this plan complies wit anization's policies.
I unde anyon Unive	stand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to 2 outside of the student's supervising faculty/staff without permission from the Walden sity IRB.
1	
Sincer	ely,
Contas	at Information
-	

Appendix B: Letters of Cooperation From Research Partner
Community Research Partner Name:
Contact Information:
Date: Jebruary 27th 2017
Dear Petra Samuel,
Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled Strategies for Integrating Technological Innovations in Small Businesses within the As part of this study, I authorize you to conduct interviews with potential participants, perform member checking and provide us with a copy of your research results. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.
 We understand that our organization's responsibilities include: Providing the researcher with contact information for the potential participants Participating voluntarily in an interview with the researcher regarding Strategies for Integrating Technological Innovations in Small Businesses Duration of interview will be 30-45 minutes The interview will be audio recorded to ensure data accuracy Participate voluntarily in a follow-up interview to ensure researcher's interpretation of data are accurate. The duration of this interview will be no longer than 20 minutes Voluntarily provide hard copy and digital company documents relating to technological integration process
We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.
I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting and that this plan complies with the organization's policies.
I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the student's supervising faculty/staff without permission from the Walden University IRB.
Singleraly
Contact Information